

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Stock code: 3638)



CONTENTS

Page	
2	CORPORATE INFORMATION
4	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
5	CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
7	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
14	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
	SENIOR MANAGEMENT
18	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
30	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
38	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
44	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
51	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
53	CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
54	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
55	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
57	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
58	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. George Lu (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Mr. Lau Wan Po (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Lau Wing Sze

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (re-designated from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director and ceased to be Vice-chairman on 12 April 2018)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE **DIRECTORS**

Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian Mr. Lam Allan Loc

Mr. Mu Binrui (resigned on 28 March 2018)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Lau Wing Sze Mr. Wong Kwok Ming

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Kwok Ming

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (Chairman) Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent

Mr. Lam Allan Loc

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent (Chairman)

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian Mr. Lam Allan Loc

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Allan Loc (Chairman)

Mr. George Lu

Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Kwok Ming (Chairman)

Ms. Lau Wing Sze Ms. Lu Qinzhen

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

CORPORATE INFORMATION

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

29th Floor Enterprise Square Two 3 Sheung Yuet Road Kowloon Bay Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited Bank of Communications Co. Ltd. Hong Kong Branch Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited Dah Sing Bank, Limited DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall Cricket Square Grand Cayman, KY1-1102 Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited Level 22, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen's Road East Wanchai Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE COMPANY

As to Hong Kong law Angela Ho & Associates Unit 1405, 14/F Tower 1, Admiralty Centre 18 Harcourt Road Hong Kong

As to Cayman Islands law Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP 53rd Floor, The Center 99 Queen's Road Central Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young Certified Public Accountants 22/F, CITIC Tower 1 Tim Mei Avenue Central Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

3638

COMPANY WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.huabangfinancial.com (information contained in this website does not form part of this report)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group for the last five financial years is set out as follows:

	Year ended 31 March					
	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Results						
Revenue	683,410	836,542	1,206,159	920,269	787,650	
Gross profit	55,967	34,221	61,630	56,130	52,530	
Profit before income tax	13,172	6,312	30,519	32,649	24,243	
Profit for the year attributable to						
equity holders of the Company	9,211	5,389	23,448	25,347	16,790	
Financial position						
Total assets	607,643	414,029	476,942	478,012	391,846	
Total liabilities	68,602	4,204	211,463	270,730	223,671	
Total equity	539,041	409,825	265,479	207,282	168,175	

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Huabang Financial Holdings Limited (the "Company"), I am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the "Group") for the year ended 31 March 2018 (the "Current Year") for shareholders' review.

During the year under review, the Group was principally engaged in financial services business and computer and peripheral products business. The financial services business that the Group operates mainly includes (i) corporate finance advisory business; (ii) money lending business; and (iii) securities brokerage business.

The Group continued to keep on tight control of its operations and focused on enhancing operation efficiency and implementing various cost control measures during the year. The management continued to devote substantial efforts in improving the overall operating profit of the Group and maintaining a healthy and strong balance sheet by various possible ways, such as improving the inventory management and account receivables control and putting effort to significantly reduce the level of finance costs. The Group will continue to monitor the market trends and take prompt and appropriate actions to adjust our business strategies and allocate resources effectively under different market conditions.

The Group has maintained a steady development over the past two years. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the group successfully achieved a remarkable growth in the business segments of corporate finance advisory business and money lending business. The revenue generated from the corporate finance advisory business segment and money lending business segment significantly increased by 1,500% and 75% respectively during the year under review. These two business segments were acquired by the Group during the last financial year and made a significant contribution to the Group in the Current Year. In order to enhance long-term growth of the Group and create substantial value to the Shareholders, the Group is dedicated to continuously exploiting possibilities of new scope of businesses to further expand its business presence in the financial services business sector. On 15 February 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity interest in Huabang Securities Limited. Huabang Securities Limited is a licensed corporation under the SFO with the following regulated activities: (i) Type 1: Dealing in securities; and (ii) Type 4: Advising on securities and its principal activities are provision of securities brokerage services and securities margin financing to clients. Such acquisition provides a strong foothold for the Group to further extend its business presence in the financial service industry and enable the Group to diversify its business scope and further broaden its source of income. We believe it can make future contribution to the Group and help the Group develop sustainably.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Looking ahead, we are confident with the future development of the Group. We aim to continue to execute well and strive to make continuous improvements in the years to come. The Group will continue to adhere to our principle of steady development, and positively cope with any challenges and capture suitable opportunities. The Group will continue to dedicate to exploiting new business opportunities in other sectors from time to time, such as to further extend its business presence in the financial service industry or other business sectors, in order to further diversify and broaden revenue sources of the Group and generate fabulous returns and long-term values for the Shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders, investors, business associates and customers for their great support and trust, and to our Directors, management and all staff for their invaluable effort and contributions!

George Lu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2018

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

Business Review

The Group was principally engaged in (i) computer and peripheral products business and (ii) financial services business.

Computer and peripheral products business

The Group operates in the computer and peripheral products industry which is dynamic and competitive and there have been constant changes in new technologies in the industry. During the year under review, the global economy remained fragile and challenging compared with previous year and the overall market competition remained intensive. Attributed to these market conditions, the Group's overall revenue in the business segment of computer and peripheral products decreased accordingly. In view of such market conditions, the Group continuously keeps on tight control of its operations. The Group focused on enhancing operation efficiency and implementing various cost control measures. The Group continues to monitor the market trends and take prompt and appropriate actions to adjust our business strategies and allocate resources effectively under different market conditions.

(ii) Financial services business

The financial services business that the Group operates mainly includes (i) corporate finance advisory business; (ii) money lending business; and (iii) securities brokerage business.

Corporate finance advisory business

The Group engages in corporate finance advisory business through its wholly owned subsidiary Huabang Corporate Finance Limited ("Huabang Corporate Finance"). Huabang Corporate Finance is a licensed corporation carrying on business in Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFO"). It is licensed to conduct the following regulated activities under the SFO in Hong Kong:

- Acting as sponsor for the corporate clients to have an initial public offering ("IPO") on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
- Advising on the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs in Hong Kong
- Acting as Financial Adviser for the listed companies in Hong Kong in the context of the Listing Rules

During the year under review, the group successfully achieved a remarkable growth in the business segment of corporate finance advisory business. Revenue generated from IPO sponsorship services, financial advisory services, compliance advisory engagements was significantly increased compared to that of previous year. The Group recorded a total revenue from the business of corporate finance advisory business of approximately HK\$22.4 million during the year (for the period from 10 February 2017 to 31 March 2017: approximately HK\$1.4 million).

Money lending business

The Group engaged in money lending business through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which holds a money lender licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to carry out money lending business in Hong Kong. The Group is able to engage in the provision of loan financing including but not limited to personal loans and business loans under the scope of Money Lenders Ordinance, Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong. The money lending business segment has shown a significant growth during the year under review. The Group recorded a total revenue from this business segment of approximately HK\$10.7 million (2017: approximately HK\$6.1 million) during the year. The Group continued to make efforts to develop the money lending business. Even though the market competition of the money lending industry in Hong Kong is increasing, the loan demand in Hong Kong remains robust during recent years and the Group believes that the money lending business will have a promising prospect.

Securities brokerage business

In order to enhance long-term growth of the Group and create substantial value to the Shareholders, the Group is dedicated to continuously exploiting possibilities of new scope of businesses to further expand its business presence in the financial services sector.

In February 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity interest in Huabang Securities Limited. Huabang Securities Limited is a licensed corporation under the SFO with the following regulated activities: (i) Type 1: Dealing in securities; and (ii) Type 4: Advising on securities. The principal activities are provision of brokerage services and securities margin financing to clients. Revenue from this new business of securities brokerage business contributed approximately HK\$2.1 million since the date of completion of the acquisition up to year ended 31 March 2018.

Upon completion of the acquisition of Huabang Securities Limited, the Group further expanded and diversified its financial services business. The business of the Huabang Securities Limited is expected to achieve synergistic effect with the business of Huabang Corporate Finance, a licensed corporation carry out Type 6 regulated activities (advising on corporate finance) under the SFO. The Group will be able to offer a one-stop shop solution to its corporate clients, and undertake the roles of sponsor/financial adviser, underwriter and bookrunner to meet the client's fund-raising needs and capital market services needs. This acquisition can hence provide the Group with integrated capability to serve its corporate clients and cost-saving synergies through economies of scale.

LOOKING AHEAD

Looking ahead, the management are confident with the future development of the Group. The Group will continue to adhere to our principle of steady development, and positively cope with any challenges and capture suitable opportunities. The Group will continue to dedicate to exploiting new business opportunities in other sectors from time to time, such as other financial services sectors or other business sectors, in order to further diversify and broaden revenue sources of the Group and generate fabulous returns and long-term values for the Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

During the year under review, the Group has diversified its operations into four business segments, being

- (a) computer and peripheral products business;
- (b) corporate finance advisory business;
- (c) money lending business; and
- (d) securities brokerage business;

Revenue by business segments for the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018 is as follows:

- Computer and peripheral products business: approximately HK\$648.3 million, representing 94.9% of revenue
- Corporate finance advisory business: approximately HK\$22.4 million, representing 3.2% of revenue
- Money lending business: approximately HK\$10.7 million, representing 1.6% of revenue
- Securities brokerage business: approximately HK\$2.1 million, representing 0.3% of revenue

The Group's total revenue for the year was approximately HK\$683.4 million, being a decrease of approximately HK\$153.1 million when compared to the previous year of approximately HK\$836.5 million. The decrease was mainly attributable to decrease in revenue derived from computer and peripheral products business due to unfavorable market conditions and increasing competitive among the business segment, which was partially offset by the revenue contribution from the Group's new business segments on corporate finance advisory business, money lending business and securities brokerage business.

Gross profit margin for the year was approximately 8.2% (2017: approximately 4.1%). Increase in gross profit margin was mainly caused by stable gross profit margin earned from computer and peripheral products business for the year and the relatively high gross profit margin contributed from the business segments of corporate finance advisory business, money lending business and securities brokerage business.

Selling Expenses

The decrease in selling expenses by approximately HK\$0.5 million was mainly due to the decrease in employee benefit expenses contributed by the results of enhancement of organisational structure.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for year increased by approximately HK\$10.9 million from the year ended 31 March 2017, which was mainly due to the increase in legal and professional fees of approximately HK\$10.0 million during the year.

Other Losses

The Group's other losses for the year was approximately HK\$0.2 million, being a decrease of approximately HK\$0.6 million when compared to the previous year of approximately HK\$0.8 million. The decrease was mainly due to change of exchange loss to exchange gain in foreign currency translation during the year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year was approximately HK\$0.5 million, being a decrease of approximately HK\$0.7 million when compared to the previous year of approximately HK\$1.2 million. The decrease was mainly attributable to less bank interest expenses being incurred due to repayment of bank borrowings and decrease in making trust receipt loans during the year.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year was approximately HK\$4.0 million, being an increase of approximately HK\$3.1 million when compared to the previous year of approximately HK\$0.9 million, which was due to the increase in the assessable profits for the year.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

The profit for the year attributed to equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately HK\$9.2 million, being an increase of approximately HK\$3.8 million when compared to the previous year of approximately HK\$5.4 million, resulted in a basic earnings per share for the year of HK0.24 cent (2017: HK0.15 cent) and diluted earnings per share for the year of HK0.24 cent (2017: HK0.15 cent).

Inventories, Loan Receivables and Account Receivables

The Group has enhanced the inventory control policy to manage business risks associated with its principal activities. Inventories as at 31 March 2018 was approximately HK\$1.9 million (31 March 2017: approximately HK\$0.5 million). The overall inventories turnover days remained fairly stable for the year under review.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's loan receivables amounted to HK\$50.0 million, which arise from its money lending business in Hong Kong, are all repayable within one year from the dates of inception of the loan agreements and no provision for impairment of loan receivables has been made during the current period.

The Group continues to closely monitor the settlements from its customers on a going basis to ensure the credit risk is minimised at a reasonable and acceptable level from time to time. The Group's account receivables increased by approximately HK\$86.1 million, from approximately HK\$88.5 million as at 31 March 2017 to approximately HK\$174.6 million as at 31 March 2018.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Treasury Policy

The Group maintained a solid financial position during the year. As at 31 March 2018, cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounted to approximately HK\$200.3 million (31 March 2017: approximately HK\$152.2 million), and the Group's net assets amounted to approximately HK\$539.0 million (31 March 2017: approximately HK\$409.8 million). As at 31 March 2018, there was HK\$36.1 million outstanding bank borrowings balance (31 March 2017: nil). The Group's liquidity position was well-managed during the year.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group was at a healthy financial position as there were sufficient cash and cash equivalents which was higher than the bank borrowings (that is net cash position), with a healthy current ratio of approximately 6.7 (calculated by dividing the total current assets by total current liabilities).

The Group has adopted a prudent treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the year. The Group strives to reduce credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

The Group's financial resources are at a strong and healthy position and are sufficient to support its business operations.

Capital Structure

Issuance of consideration shares

On 15 February 2018, Goldenmars Technology Investments Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Huabang Securities Limited from an independent third party pursuant to a sales and purchase agreement dated 7 March 2017 at a consideration of HK\$180.15 million, to be satisfied by cash of HK\$30.0 million and the allotment and issue of 231,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company. 231,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company were issued and allotted on 15 February 2018 accordingly.

As at 31 March 2018, the number of ordinary shares of the Company in issued and fully paid was 4,089,492,000.

Capital Commitments

Other than disclosed in note 33(b) to the consolidated financial statement in this report, the Group had no other capital commitments as at 31 March 2018.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has pledged the properties with carrying values of approximately HK\$42.5 million to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has pledged the properties with carrying values of approximately HK\$43.9 million to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group exposes to certain foreign currency risk primarily with respect to Renminbi ("RMB") and United States dollar ("US\$") as most of the transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollar ("HK\$"), RMB and US\$. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily through expenses transactions that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the group companies. During the year, the Group generated a foreign exchange gain of approximately HK\$0.1 million (2017: exchange loss of approximately HK\$0.6 million). The Group manages its exposures to foreign currency transactions by monitoring the level of foreign currency receipts and payments and ensures that the net exposure to foreign exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level. During the year, the Group has not used any forward exchange contract to hedge against foreign exchange risk as management considers its exposure as not significant. The Group will continue to manage the net exposure of foreign exchange risk to keep at an acceptable level from time to time.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Employees and Emolument Policy

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had a total of 41 employees. Employee benefit expenses and share option expenses, including Directors' remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2018, amounted to approximately HK\$12.5 million (2017: approximately HK\$8.8 million) and approximately HK\$8.8 million (2017: approximately HK\$14.3 million) respectively. The Group's remuneration policy is based on position, duties and performance of the employees. The employees' remuneration varies according to their positions, which may include salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies. The Group offers a comprehensive and competitive remuneration and benefits package to all its employees. In addition, the Group has adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. The Group has also adopted other employee benefit including a provident fund scheme for its employees in Hong Kong, as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, and has participated in employee pension schemes organised and governed by the relevant local governments for its employees in the PRC.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Material Acquisitions

- On 11 January 2018, Huabang Financial Investments Limited ("Huabang Financial Investments"), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, enters into a formal sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the Huabang Financial Investments has agreed to purchase a property located in Hong Kong, at a consideration of approximately HK\$219.8 million, to be satisfied by cash. At 31 March 2018, total non-refundable deposits and other prepayments of approximately HK\$41.1 million was paid for the acquisition of the property. The transaction was completed on 18 April 2018 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the sales and purchase agreement.
- On 15 February 2018, Goldenmars Technology Investments Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Huabang Securities Limited from an independent third party pursuant to a sales and purchase agreement dated 7 March 2017 at a consideration of HK\$180.15 million, to be satisfied by cash of HK\$30.0 million and the allotment and issue of 231,000,000 shares of the Company. Huabang Securities Limited is a licensed corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is principally engaged in securities brokerage business in Hong Kong.

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 9 September 2013 (the "Listing Date"), the Company completed the placing of 69,000,000 shares of par value of HK\$0.01 each at an issue price of HK\$0.90 per share. The net proceeds from the placing were approximately HK\$36.0 million. The actual use of proceeds up to 31 March 2017 had been disclosed in the Annual Report 2017 and the revised schedule of the plan for the use of proceeds had been disclosed in the Annual Report 2016 of the Company. As at 31 March 2018, net proceeds of HK\$7.7 million had been applied.

During the Current Year, the net proceeds had been applied as follows:

	Intended use of proceeds for the year ended 31 March 2018 HK\$'000	Actual use of proceeds for the year ended 31 March 2018 HK\$'000
Increase market share	2,760	793
Strengthen R&D and design capability	8,974	94
Enhance quality control and improve production capability	1,070	84
General working capital	600	600
Total:	13,404	1,571

The Directors will constantly evaluate the Group's business plan and may change or modify plans against the changing market condition to attain sustainable business growth of the Group. All the unutilised balances have been placed in licensed banks in Hong Kong.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. George LU, aged 55, our founder and Chairman of the Group. Mr. Lu has been the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Group since 2 June 2016. Mr. Lu is also a member of Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lu is responsible for the overall management, operations and strategic development of the Group's business and has over fifteen years of experience in the computer and peripheral products industry. Mr. Lu is the spouse of Ms. Shen Wei, a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lu is also the elder brother of Ms. Lu Qinzhen, a senior management of our Group. Mr. Lu is also the CEO, an executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 911), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange"), and he is responsible for corporate strategic planning and overall business development.

Mr. LAU Wan Po, aged 42, was appointed as Vice-chairman of the Group on 26 January 2017. Mr. Lau was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 26 January 2017 and re-designated to an Executive Director of the Company on 7 March 2017. Mr. Lau has over 17 years of experience in the investment banking industry focusing in the areas of initial public offering, merger and acquisition, corporate restructuring and other financial advisory services to listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lau has been the director of Huabang Securities Limited since December 2015. He acted as the managing director of Haitong International Capital Limited and Hai Tong Capital (HK) Limited from January 2010 to November 2015. He was an executive director and head of investment banking division of CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation Limited from August 2008 to January 2010. He graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in science and earned a master's degree in finance from Curtin University of Technology. He was an executive director and re-designated as a non-executive director on 18 November 2016 of New Sports Group Limited (Stock code: 299), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. LAU Wing Sze, aged 41, was appointed as an Executive Director and the CEO of the Group in June 2012 and resigned as the CEO with effect from 2 June 2016 but remains an Executive Director of our Company. She is responsible for procurement and inventory control. Ms. Lau is a member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Ms. Lau joined Goldenmars Technology (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group in July 2005. Ms. Lau has more than ten years of experience in management of computer and peripheral products business. Ms. Lau graduated with a Higher Diploma in Business Studies from the City University of Hong Kong in 1998. Ms. Lau also obtained a Master of Business Administration which is a long distance course from the University of Bradford.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. PANG Chung Fai Benny, aged 45, was re-designated from an independent Non-Executive Director to an Executive Director and was appointed as Vice-chairman of the Company from 26 January 2017 to 12 April 2018. Mr. Pang has been redesignated from an Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director and ceased to be the Vice-chairman of the Company with effect from 12 April 2018. He was an independent Non-Executive Director of the Company from June 2012 to January 2017. Mr. Pang is currently the managing partner of Benny Pang & Co. Between 2012 to January 2017, Mr. Pang was the managing partner of Loeb & Loeb LLP (formerly known as Pang & Co. in association with Loeb & Loeb LLP), a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong. Between 1997 and 2012, Mr. Pang practised as a lawyer with several international law firms in Hong Kong and Sydney. Mr. Pang received his bachelor's degree in laws (honors) from Bond University, Australia, in 1996. In 1997, Mr. Pang obtained his Graduate Diploma in Legal Practice and master's degree in laws from The College of Law, Sydney and the University of New South Wales, Australia, respectively. He has been admitted as a legal practitioner of the Supreme Court of New South Wales, Australia since 1997 and as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since 2009. He is a member of both the Law Society of New South Wales, Australia and the Law Society of Hong Kong. Mr. Pang is currently the independent non-executive director of Sanbase Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 8501), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange ("GEM"). Mr. Pang is also currently the independent non-executive director of Yuanda China Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2789), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pang was appointed as an independent nonexecutive director of China Regenerative Medicine International Limited (Stock Code: 8158), a company listed on GEM, from 20 September 2012 to 1 June 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LOO Hong Shing Vincent, aged 52, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director in June 2012. Mr. Loo is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Loo has over 30 years of experience in the accounting, auditing, corporate finance and business advisory areas. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Loo has over 17 years of auditing experience with Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong. Mr. Loo is currently the vice president, chief financial officer and company secretary of Cosmo Lady (China) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2298) since December 2016, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Before joining Cosmo Lady (China) Holdings Company Limited, Mr. Loo was an executive director, chief financial officer and company secretary of Hengan International Group Company Limited (Stock Code: 1044), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Loo graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Professional Diploma in Accountancy in 1988 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1992 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since 1996.

Mr. SHIN Yick Fabian, aged 49, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 30 September 2016. Mr. Shin is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Shin has over 26 years of experience in investment banking and financial management. Mr. Shin is currently the chief executive officer of Well Link International Capital Limited (previously known as Zhaobangji International Capital Limited. Prior to joining Well Link International Capital Limited, he worked in several investment banks in Hong Kong. Mr. Shin is currently the independent non-executive director of Newton Resources Ltd. (Stock code: 1231), China Shun Ke Long Holdings Ltd. (Stock code: 974) and Lisi Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 526), all companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Shin is also currently a non-executive director of Pak Tak International Limited (Stock code: 2668), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Shin was a non-executive director of Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (Stock code: 911), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, between January and February 2016. He was an independent non-executive director of Little Sheep Limited (Stock code: 968), a company listed in Hong Kong till 2012 and also C & O Pharmaceutical Technology (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: E92.SI), a company listed in Singapore till 2011. Mr. Shin graduated from the University of Birmingham in England with a bachelor's degree in commerce. After graduation, he worked in the audit department of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. He had also worked in a listed company in Hong Kong as group financial controller and company secretary. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries.

Mr. LAM Allan Loc, aged 56, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 26 January 2017. Mr. Lam was previously the country president of Chubb Life Insurance Company Limited (Hong Kong). Prior to that, Mr. Lam served as the china country manager and senior vice president for Business Development (SEA) of BNP Paribas Cardif S.A. He was based in Shanghai from November 2011 to January 2014. Mr. Lam worked as the chief marketing officer of the regional corporate solutions department in the American International Assurance (AIA) Group based in Hong Kong (SEHK stock code: 1299) from June 2006 to November 2011 and was the chief executive officer and a director of AXA-Minmetals Life Assurance Company Limited based in Shanghai from January 2003 to April 2006. Mr. Lam was the business development director of Prudential Corporation Asia (PCA) based in Hong Kong from October 2000 to January 2003. In addition, Mr. Lam was a director of Grandcyber Corporation Limited, which was a member of Pearl Oriental Cyberforce Limited (previously known as Pearl Oriental Holdings Limited) (stock code: 988) from April 2000 to October 2000 and he is the assistant vice-president & operations director of AIA Pension and Trustee based in Hong Kong from May 1996 to January 2000. Mr. Lam also has been a project manager of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited (SEHK stock code: 0293) and a senior avionics technologist of Boeing Commercial Aircraft from May 1986 to February 1992. Mr. Lam has over 20 years of working experience in corporate management and business development. Mr. Lam was awarded a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Ottawa in 1996 and a diploma in electronics engineering technology from the Humber College of Applied Arts and Technology in 1986 in Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WONG Kwok Ming, aged 41, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 14 March 2016 and the Company Secretary of the Company on 1 April 2016. Mr. Wong is the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is responsible for overall financial management and risk management of the Group as well as the overall company secretarial matters of the Company. Mr. Wong has over 19 years of experience in the areas of auditing, accounting, taxation, capital markets, business advisory and corporate finance covering various industry sectors. Mr. Wong has worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong for over 10 years in audit and assurance department with his last position as senior manager and he worked at a well-established and sizable manufacturing company as the chief financial officer after he left PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Wong possesses a Master Degree in Accounting from Curtin University of Technology, Mr. Wong is a Practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of The Society Chinese Accountants & Auditors. Mr. Wong is also an executive director of Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 911), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and he is responsible for corporate finance of that company.

Ms. LU Qinzhen, aged 48, is the finance manager and a director of Bodatong Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited ("Bodatong"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Ms. Lu joined Bodatong in May 2007. Ms. Lu is responsible for accounting and financial management of Bodatong. Ms. Lu graduated from Suzhou Zhonghua Correspondence School of Accounting (蘇州市中華會計函授學校) in 2003, majoring in accounting (long distances course). Ms. Lu is also a member of the Corporate Governance Committee. Ms. Lu is the younger sister of Mr. George Lu and sister-in-law of Ms. Shen Wei, spouse of Mr. George Lu and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD

Details of the principal subsidiaries and investment accounted for using equity method as at 31 March 2018 are set out in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group's future development are provided in the Chairman's Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 6 and pages 7 to 13 respectively of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors' report. In addition, a summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 53 and 54 of this annual report.

Interim dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of interim dividend for the six months ended 30 September 2017 (for the six months ended 30 September 2016: HK\$0.005 per ordinary share).

Final dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year (2017: Nil).

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group's borrowings as at 31 March 2018 are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles of Association or the relevant law of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during year are set out in Notes 36(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 55 and 56, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the Company's reserves available for distribution to equity holders, comprising the share premium, contributed surplus, employee share-based compensation reserve and net of accumulated losses, amounted to approximately HK\$463.9 million.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account of the Company in the amount of HK\$354.5 million may be applied for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the largest one and five largest customers accounted for approximately 80.3% and approximately 94.7% respectively of the total sales for the year. Purchases from the largest one and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 33.1% and 94.7% respectively of the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or any shareholder (which to the best knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including some which are specific to the Group or the industries in which the Group operates. The directors managed that significant risks which may adversely affect the Group's performance and ability to deliver on its strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are identified, reported, monitored, and managed on a continuous basis. The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are shown in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the directors and management are aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate and long-term goals. Regular and continuous communication with our suppliers, customers and other stakeholders are carried out through regular meetings, conferences, and promotional events.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintain high environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including safety workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group understands a better future depends on everyone's participation and contribution. The Group has encouraged employees and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and social activities which benefit the community as a whole. The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees, has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure sustainable development. Our commitment to protect the environment is also well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green awareness in our daily business operations. The Group encourages environmental protection and promote awareness towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group encourages the principle of recycling and reducing and put efforts to implement green office practices. Detail of the Group's environmental, social and governance practices are set out in the "Environmental, Social and Governance Report" section in this annual report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who were in office during year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. George Lu (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Mr. Lau Wan Po (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Lau Wing Sze

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (re-designated from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director and ceased to be Vice-chairman on 12 April 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Loo Hona Shina Vincent

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian

Mr. Lam Allan Loc

Mr. Mu Binrui (resigned on 28 March 2018)

In accordance with Articles 16.18 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Lau Wing Sze will retire from office by rotation and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting ("AGM").

In accordance with Articles 16.2 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lau Wan Po and Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny will hold office until the forthcoming AGM and will be eligible for the re-election at that meeting.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent Non-Executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of them to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical information of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 14 to 17 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in Notes 37 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES. **UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES**

As at 31 March 2018, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

A

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director	Capacity/nature of interest	Number of issued ordinary shares held	Approximate percentage of issued share capital (Note 4)
Mr. George Lu	Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)	2,396,064,000	58.59
	Beneficial owner (Note 1)	174,133,333	4.26
	Security interest in shares	409,044,000	10.0
Mr. Lau Wan Po	Beneficial owner (Note 3)	100,000,000	2.45
Ms. Lau Wing Sze	Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2)	4,320,000	0.11
	Beneficial owner (Note 2)	61,536,000	1.60
Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent	Beneficial owner (Note 3)	1,500,000	0.04
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny	Beneficial owner (Note 3)	1,500,000	0.04
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian	Beneficial owner (Note 3)	1,500,000	0.04

- There are 2,396,064,000 shares were registered in the name of Forever Star Capital Limited ("Forever Star"). Each of Mr. George Lu and Ms. Shen Wei, husband and wife, holds 50% interest in Forever Star, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, respectively. Therefore, both of them are deemed to be interested in all the shares which are beneficially owned by Forever Star. Mr. George Lu is the beneficial owner of total 174,133,333 shares. Among these 174,133,333 shares, 28,333,333 shares related to share options granted by the Company to Mr. George Lu.
- The 4,320,000 shares were registered in the name of Nice Rate Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, the entire issued share capital of which is held by Ms. Lau Wing Sze. Ms. Lau Wing Sze is also the beneficial owner of total 61,536,000 shares. Among these 61,536,000 shares, 42,600,000 shares are related to share options granted by the Company to Ms. Lau Wing Sze.
- These interests are underlying shares of the Company in respect of share options granted by the Company to each of Mr. Lau (3) Wan Po, Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent, Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian.
- The percentage holding is calculated based on the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2018 comprising 4,089,492,000 shares.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as it was known by or otherwise notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the following interest of which would fall to be disclosed under Division 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or the particulars of the corporations or persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more interests in the shares and the underlying shares as recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Name	Nature of interest	Number of shares held	percentage of issued share capital
Forever Star Capital Limited	Beneficial owner	2,396,064,000	58.59%
Ms. Shen Wei	Interest of spouse (Note 1)	174,133,333	4.26%
	Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2)	2,396,064,000	58.59%
	Person having a security interest in shares	409,044,000	10.00%
Qianhai Health Holdings Limited	Person having a security interest in shares (Note 4)	409,044,000	10.00%
China Goldjoy Securities Limited	Custodian interest (Note 3)	346,912,000	8.48%
Newpont Holdings Limited	Beneficial owner	231,000,000	5.65%

Approximate

Notes:

- Ms. Shen Wei is the spouse of Mr. George Lu, an Executive Director and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 145,800,000 Shares held by Mr. George Lu who is the beneficial owner and also 28,333,333 underlying Shares held by Mr. George Lu in respect of his interests in share options of the Company, by virtue of the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO.
- (2) Ms. Shen Wei owns 50% of Forever Star and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 2,396,064,000 Shares held by Forever Star by virtue of the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO.
- According to the information available to the Company, China Goldjoy Securities Limited is a custodian of a total 346,912,000
- According to the information available to the Company, Qianhai Health Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 409,044,000 shares as it is a deemed as person having a security interest in shares. Qianhai Health Holdings Limited is owned as to 47.38% by Super Generation Group Ltd. which is wholly owned by Mr. George Lu.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 21 August 2013 ("the date of adoption"), the Company conditionally approved a share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") under which options will be granted to eligible persons to subscribe for shares of the Company at subscription price which should not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a trading day ("Offer Date"); (ii) the average closing price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's shares, provided that for the purpose of calculating the subscription price, where the Company has been listed for less than five trading days, the issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business day falling within the period before listing.

On 21 December 2016, the Group announced the granting of a total of 288,000,000 share options to selected employees and directors under the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price of the granted options is HK\$0.55 per share. 1,932,000 and 56,666,667 share options were exercised and forfeited during the year ended 31 March 2018 respectively. With reference to the poll results of the extraordinary general meeting held on 31 October 2017, a grant of 85,000,000 share options of the Company to an employee was approved by shareholders and offered to the employee on 31 October 2017. The offer was not accepted by the employee and lapsed subsequently. Accordingly, no share option was granted to the employee during the current financial year. Details accounting policies adopted for the share options are described in Note 2 and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018, options to subscribe for an aggregate of 229,401,333 shares granted to the Directors and employees pursuant to the Scheme remained outstanding, details of which are as follows:

Time of most in cate	Data of second	Forestable and d		Outstanding as	Granted during	Exercise during	Lapsed/ forfeited during	Outstanding as
Type of participants Directors	Date of grant	Exercisable period	price	at 1 April 2017	the year	the year	the year	at 31 March 2018
Mr. George Lu	24 February 2017	24 February 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	28,333,333	-	-	-	28,333,333
		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	28,333,333	-	-	(28,333,333)	-
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	28,333,334	-	-	(28,333,334)	-
Mr. Lau Wan Po	21 December 2016	21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	33,333,333	_	-	-	33,333,333
		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	33,333,333	-	-	-	33,333,333
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	33,333,334	-	-	-	33,333,334
Ms. Lau Wing Sze	21 December 2016	21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	14,200,000	_	-	-	14,200,000
		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	14,200,000	-	-	-	14,200,000
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	14,200,000	-	-	-	14,200,000
Mr. Pang Chung Fai	21 December 2016	21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	_	-	-	500,000
Benny		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
Mr. Loo Hong Shing	21 December 2016	21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
Vincent		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian	21 December 2016	21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
Employees	21 December 2016	21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	18,633,333	-	(1,932,000)	-	16,701,333
		21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	18,633,333	-	-	-	18,633,333
		21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019	HK\$0.55	18,633,334	_	-	_	18,633,334
				288,000,000	-	(1,932,000)	(56,666,667)	229,401,333

Movements in the number of outstanding share options and their related average exercise prices are as follows:

	20	18	2017		
	Average exercise price Number of exercise price		Average		
			exercise price in	Number of	
	in HK\$ per	share options	HK\$ per share	share options	
	share option	(thousands)	option	(thousands)	
1 April 2017	0.55	288,000	_	_	
Granted during the year	_	_	0.55	288,000	
Forfeited during the year	0.55	(56,667)	_	_	
Exercised during the year	0.55	(1,932)			
31 March 2018		229,401		288,000	

Share options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

	Exercise price	Number of share		
	in HK\$ per share	options (thousands)		
Expiry date	option	2018	2017	
20 December 2019	0.55	229,401	288,000	

As at 31 March 2018, 163,666,665 share options were vested. Share-based payments of HK\$118,000 (2017: HK\$115,000) and HK\$8,679,000 (2017: HK\$14,145,000) were included in selling expenses and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement respectively.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31 March 2018.

COMPETING INTEREST OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR RESPECTIVE ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 March 2018, none of the Directors, controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) is considered to have interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interests, which is required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2018.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Forever Star, Mr. George Lu, Ms. Shen Wei and Ms. Lau Wing Sze (together as the "Controlling Shareholders") had entered into a deed of non-competition dated 21 August 2013 (the "Deed of Non-Competition") in favour of the Company (for itself and on behalf of all members of the Group), pursuant to which, each of the Controlling Shareholders would not, and would use his/its best endeavours to procure his/ its associates (except any members of our Group) not to directly or indirectly carry on, engage, participate or hold any right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be interested and/or involved (in each case whether as shareholder, partner, agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) in any business which may be in competition with the business carried on by the Group from time to time, except where the Company's approval is obtained.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition are set out in the section headed "Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders – Non-Competition Undertakings" of the Prospectus.

The Company confirms that each of the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Deed of Non-Competition throughout the year ended 31 March 2018. In order to ensure the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Deed of Non-Competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders have provided to the Company a written confirmation that (i) in respect of his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition for the year ended 31 March 2018 and no personal interests were ever declared by any Controlling Shareholders who are also Directors at the Directors' meetings; and (ii) stating that they and their respective associates did not directly or indirectly, carry on or hold any right or interests in or render any services to, or is otherwise involved in, any business which may be in competition with the business carried on by the Group from time to time.

The independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have also reviewed the status of the compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders with the undertakings in the Deed of Non-Competition and have confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, there is no breach by any of the Controlling Shareholders of the undertakings in the Deed of Non-Competition given by them.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of position, duties and performance of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the board of Directors, having regard to the Company's operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings according to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company had made specific enquiries of all Directors and was not aware of any noncompliance with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2018.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. As these related party transactions constitute fully exempted continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of them constitutes discloseable connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Board confirms that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued shares were held by the public) throughout the Current Year and up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the Current Year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group completed a major transaction of acquisition of a property on 18 April 2018. Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 20 December 2017, 9 January 2018, 27 February 2018 and 18 April 2018, and the circular of the Company dated 15 March 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30 to 37 of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and as at 31 March 2018, the Company has purchased liabilities insurance for the Directors and officers, which provides appropriate insurance cover for the Group's directors and officers. A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 comply with applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditor of the Company and Ernst & Young were appointed by the directors to fill the casual vacancy so arising. There have been no other changes of auditor in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

George Lu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2018

The Board is committed to maintaining a good corporate governance standard. The Board believes that a good corporate governance standard will provide a framework for the Group to formulate the business strategies and policies, and manage the associated risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the transparency of the Group and strengthen the accountability to the shareholders and creditors. In this regard, a Corporate Governance Committee of the Board has been established with primary responsibility for developing and reviewing the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board.

The Company has adopted the requirements under the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. The Company had complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2018, to the extent applicable and permissible.

Accordingly, the Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the Current Year.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings according to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard of dealings and the Company's code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, with three Executive Directors, a Non-Executive Director and three independent Non-Executive Directors. The Directors who were in office during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. George Lu (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Mr. Lau Wan Po (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Lau Wing Sze

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (re-designated from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director and ceased to be Vice-chairman on 12 April 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian

Mr. Lam Allan Loc

Mr. Mu Binrui (resigned on 28 March 2018)

The biographical details of the Directors and relationship between them (if any) are set out in the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" on pages 14 to 17 of this annual report.

The Articles of Association provide that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

The Board is responsible for the formulation of the Group's business strategies and overall policies, and monitoring the performance of the management and corporate governance functions. The Executive Directors are delegated with the power to execute the business strategies, develop and implement the policies in the daily operation of the Group. The independent Non-Executive Directors provide their professional advices to the Group whenever necessary.

Composition of the Board, including names of the independent Non-Executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and accounts of the Group. The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their duties to the Company. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The Board held eleven Board meetings and two general meetings (including one annual general meeting and one extraordinary general meeting) for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The attendances of the Directors at various meetings held during the Current Year are set out below:

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

	General meetings	Board meetings	Audit Committee meetings	Remuneration Committee meetings	Nomination Committee meetings	Corporate Governance Committee meetings
Mr. George Lu	2/2	11/11	N/A	N/A	2/2	N/A
Mr. Lau Wan Po	2/2	11/11	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Ms. Lau Wing Sze	2/2	11/11	N/A	N/A	N/A	2/2
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny	2/2	11/11	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent	2/2	11/11	4/4	3/3	2/2	N/A
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian	2/2	11/11	4/4	3/3	N/A	N/A
Mr. Mu Binrui (resigned on						
28 March 2018)	1/2	4/10	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Mr. Lam Allan Loc	2/2	11/11	4/4	3/3	2/2	N/A

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires that independent Non-Executive Directors shall attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of Shareholders. Due to other important business engagement, Mr. Mu Binrui was unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting held on 31 October 2017.

DIRECTORS' CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

In accordance with A.6.5 of the CG Code with regards to continuous professional development, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. To further ensure all Directors are adequately informed about the Company's business and operations as well as his/her responsibilities under relevant laws, rules and regulations, the management provides all Directors with regular updates regarding the Company's performance as well as updates on latest amendments and developments to the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

The Directors received the following training for the year ended 31 March 2018 according to the records provided by the Directors:

Training on corporate governance, regulatory development and other **Directors** relevant topics **Executive Directors** Mr. George Lu (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman) Mr. Lau Wan Po (Vice-chairman) Ms. Lau Wing Sze **Non-Executive Director** Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (re-designated from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director and ceased to be Vice-chairman on 12 April 2018) **Independent Non-Executive Directors** Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent Mr. Shin Yick Fabian Mr. Lam Allan Loc Mr. Mu Binrui (resigned on 28 March 2018)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, Mr. George Lu is the Chairman and also the CEO of the Company.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The current Chairman and CEO of the Company is Mr. George Lu. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and CEO in the same person will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Directors and the management of the Company. Mr. George Lu has extensive experience in the industry which is beneficial and of great value to the overall development of the Company. The Board is of the view that although the Chairman is also the CEO, the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced individuals and meets from time to time to discuss issues affecting operation of the Company. The Board also believes that the current structure is conducive to strong and consistent leadership, enabling the Company to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent Non-Executive Directors, all of them has appropriate professional qualification or related financial management expertise. The Company has received a written confirmation of independence from each of the independent Non-Executive Directors. The Company considers that each of the independent Non-Executive Directors is independent.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent Non-Executive Directors have signed letters of appointment with the Company with a term of three years.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee with its role and function set out in its specific written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG Code, which are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee are to formulate the Company's remuneration policy and recommend remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of the Company to the Board for approval. The Company remuneration policy is based on position, duties and performance of the employees. The employees' remuneration varies according to their positions, which may include salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies. The performance appraisal system varies according to the positions of the employees. The performance appraisal is supervised by each member of the Remuneration Committee, namely Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent (Chairman), Mr. Shin Yick Fabian and Mr. Lam Allan Loc.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprised three independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Shin Yick Fabian and Mr. Lam Allan Loc.

During the Current Year, three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held to make recommendation to the Board on the Company's policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and the senior management and on the establishment of a procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; and determine or recommend to the Board on the remuneration packages of all the Executive Directors and the senior management, and recommend to the Board of the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors. All members of the Remuneration Committee attended the meetings.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee with specific written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG Code, which are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee currently comprised two independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Allan Loc as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent, and an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, namely Mr. George Lu.

Major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates for election by shareholders at the general meeting (either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board), assess the independence of Non-Executive Directors and propose re-election of retiring Directors.

During the Current Year, two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held to review the structure and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of nomination individuals nominated for directorships, adoption of the board diversity policy and revised written terms of reference to the Nomination Committee. All members of the Nomination Committee attended the meetings.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the Current Year, the Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Directors appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG Code, which are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company's financial statement, accounts, interim results and annual results and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing and supervising the Group's financial reporting and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee currently comprised three independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Shin Yick Fabian as the Chairman of Audit Committee, Mr. Loo Hong Shing Vincent and Mr. Lam Allan Loc. The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Current Year to review interim results, annual results, risk management and internal control system of the Group. All of the meetings were attended with the Company's independent auditor so that the members of the Audit Committee could exchange their views and concerns on the financial reporting process of the Group with the auditor. All members of the Audit Committee attended all meetings held.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Board has established a Corporate Governance Committee with written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in the Listing Rules, which are posted on the websites of the Company.

Its primary functions include: (i) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to our Board; (ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees of the Group; (v) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report as required under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules; and (vi) to consider other matters, as authorised by the Board.

The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprised Executive Directors and senior management of the Company, namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Ming as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, Ms. Lau Wing Sze and Ms. Lu Qinzhen. The Corporate Governance Committee held two meetings during the Current Year and each committee member had full attendance for all the meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board and the Corporate Governance Committee have reviewed the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code, reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management and reviewed and monitored the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements during the Current Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Kwok Ming, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time employee of the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. The company secretary has duly complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the company secretary is set out in the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" in the annual report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of its profit and cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2018. The Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Group on a going concern basis, and have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently, with applicable disclosures required under the Listing Rules and pursuant to the relevant statutory requirements.

The responsibilities of the auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, are set out in the section headed "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statement" in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 44 to 50 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has the overall responsibilities for the internal control of the Group, including risk management. To facilitate effective and efficient operations and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the Group emphases on the importance of the risk management and internal control system which is also indispensable to mitigating the Group's risk exposures. The Group's risk management and internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment of the business objectives.

The risk management and internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable assurance in relation to protection of material assets and identification of business risks. The Board is satisfied that, based on information furnished to it and on its own observations, the present internal controls of the Group are satisfactory. The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal control system of the Group and communicates any material issues with the Board.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management of risks associated with its business activities and has implemented a practical and effective control system which includes a defined management structure with limits of authority, a sound cash management system and periodic review of the Group's performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system and is of the view that the risk management and internal control system adopted during the year ended 31 March 2018 is sound and is effective to safeguard the interests of the shareholders' investment and the Group's assets.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The auditor, Ernst & Young, has provided both audit and non-audit services to the Group. The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment, removal and remuneration of the independent auditor.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the fee for audit service and non-audit services provided to the Group amounted to approximately HK\$1.2 million and HK\$nil respectively (2017: HK\$1.3 million and HK\$nil, respectively).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Current Year, there is no significant change in the Company's constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company provides information in relation to the Group to the shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels, including the annual general meeting, interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars. Such published documents together with the corporate information of the Group are also available on the Company's website (www.huabangfinancial.com).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association as amended from time to time, shareholders may convene a general meeting/put forward proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

- One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of 1. the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings can deposit a written request to convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary.
- 2. The written request must state the name of the shareholders concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting, signed by the shareholders concerned.
- The request will be verified with the Company's branch share registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the shareholders. On the contrary, if the request has been verified as not in order, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
- If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
- The notice period to be given to the shareholders in respect of the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be considered, notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent to the shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business days (whichever is longer) before such EGM.

Procedures for shareholders sending enquiries to the Board

- Enquiries about shareholdings Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company's branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding enquiry service at www.tricoris.com, or send email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or go in person to its public counter at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong.
- Enquiries about corporate governance or other matters to be put to the Board and the Company The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention of the Board or Company Secretary, by mail to 29th Floor, Enterprise Square Two, 3 Sheung Yuet Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the Company at (852) 2314 0822 for any assistance.

The Group has been long active in fulfilling corporate social responsibilities. The Board is responsible for leading the environmental, social and governance ("ESG") works, including dedicated management teams to manage ESG issues within each business division, and assign designated staff to enforce and supervise the implementation of relevant policies. The Board is committed to making continuous improvements in corporate environmental and social responsibility in order to meet the changing needs of an advancing society. The Board is pleased to present the ESG report to demonstrate its efforts on sustainable development.

SCOPE AND PERIOD OF REPORTING

The ESG report mainly covers the businesses of the Group and presents the Group's strategic approach to sustainability and performance in the environmental and social aspects of its businesses in the reporting period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. The Group will continue to strengthen its efforts to collect information in order to enhance its performance in the environmental and social subject areas and to disclose related information in its sustainable development.

STAKEHOLDERS' ENGAGEMENT

To conduct the Group's materiality assessment in identifying and understanding the main concerns and material interests of stakeholders, the Group has invited the stakeholders to express their views and concerns on major social and environment issues, while the employees' health, safety measures, benefits and pay, development and training are the material topics of concern to stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group undertakes environmental protection as part of its corporate responsibilities, and it is fully aware of the importance of sustainable environmental development in promoting sustainability in its operations. The Group is committed to implementing different environmental protection measures to reduce the impacts on the environment.

EMISSIONS

The Group is principally engaged in (i) computer and peripheral products business; (ii) corporate finance advisory business; (iii) money lending business; and (iv) securities brokerage business. These businesses do not constitute any significant impact to the environment and does not generate any material level of greenhouse gas and hazardous waste. Our management closely monitors and aims to minimise the environmental effect to its surroundings. There is no non-compliance cases noted in relation to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water and land and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste for the year ended 31 March 2018.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group highly encourages the efficient use of resources while endeavours to reduce, reuse and recycle of resources to prevent the unnecessary waste of resources and minimize the impacts on the environment and natural resources. Due to the nature of our business, the resources used by the Group are principally attributed to electricity and paper consumed at our offices and warehouse. Due to our business nature, our operation does not significantly involve direct consumption of water and packaging materials. Water consumption by the Group was mainly normal water consumption used at the Group's offices only.

ELECTRICITY

Due to the Group's business nature, our electricity consumption is normally used at our offices and warehouse and we do not involve large electric facilities for operation. In view of that, we consider electricity consumption attributed to less significant to our Group. However, the Group continues its commitment in reducing the energy consumption by reminding employees to switch off their computers before leaving office, switch off the lighting in the conference rooms and other functional rooms when they are not in use and turn the electronic equipment into energy-saving mode whenever possible. We also encourage our employees to keep the office temperature at 25°C so as to ensure the efficient use of the air-conditioning. In addition, the Group closely monitors energy consumption at its offices and warehouse and encourage its staff to make sure use of natural light. Permission is required for lighting and air-conditioning during non-business hours.

PAPER AND PRINTING MATERIALS

Paper usage by the Group's offices and warehouses is limited for daily office use as well as some printing materials such as annual/interim reports and circulars which are required to be distributed to the shareholders. To save the environment, the Group continues the efforts in reducing and recycling of paper usage, by reminding our staff to have environmentally friendly printing and photocopying habit, encouraging doublesided printing and scanning documents to the Group's server system rather photocopying whenever possible, implementing password system for colour printing and separate collection of waste paper and used envelopes for reuse and recycling. For those printing materials, we will not over-printing and will print on demand and encourage our readers make use of the company's website.

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserving the earth's natural resources. Due to the nature of our Group's operations, environmental impact and use of natural resources is considered minimal. Nevertheless, our Group is endeavour to protect the environment and natural resources as a responsible corporate citizenship.

OPERATING PRACTICES

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group have strict quality control in each operation step: procurement, production and warehousing. The Group checks quality and stability of products, so as to select high-quality product-suppliers and to ensure the quality of products. In respect of warehouse management, warehouse inventory follows the principle of convenient storage and management which can minimise errors.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is principally engaged in (i) computer and peripheral products business; (ii) corporate finance advisory business; (iii) money lending business; and (iv) securities brokerage business. Regarding the computer and peripheral products business, the computer and peripheral products being sourced were all manufactured by famous bands in the world. The Group has adequate and suitable facilities to store the products properly and to ensure the products are kept in good conditions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

To maintain a fair, ethical and efficient business and working environment, the Group strictly adheres to the laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption and bribery irrespective of the area or country where the Group is conducting business such as Hong Kong's Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. The Group has formulated and strictly enforced anti-corruption policies that the Group will not tolerate any form of corruption. All employees are expected to discharge their duties with integrity and self-discipline. They should abstain from engaging in any activities related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering which may exploit their positions against the Group's interests in the course of business.

Employees have to report the declaration of conflict to the Group regularly. In addition, when the Group cooperates with external parties, the Group implements proper internal control process and tendering process to prevent any potential threats on corruption. The Group also arranges regular training to executives and employees for enhancing ethical awareness in conducting businesses.

The management conducts investigations against any suspicious or illegal behaviour which are related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering to protect the Group's interests. Corresponding internal assessment, consulting, investigation and punishment procedures are introduced. The management shall have in-depth investigation and ensure all the relevant information is kept intact and completely recorded.

Furthermore, the Group has set up internal whistleblowing policy system to enable the employees to lodge complaints and report any suspicious activities either verbally or in writing. The Group advocates a confidentiality mechanism to protect the whistle-blowers from the fear of threats. Where criminality is suspected after investigation, disciplinary actions will be taken, including termination of employment and relevant report is made to the relevant authorities. The Audit Committee of the Company shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

EMPLOYMENT

The Group treasures talent as it is one of the most valuable assets and keys for driving success and maintaining sustainable development. The Group strives to provide its staff with a safe and competitive platform for career development and advancement.

The Group's human resources policies strictly adhere to the applicable employment laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including, the Hong Kong's Employment Ordinance and Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The Group also provide employee benefits, such as medical insurance. The Group's human resources department reviews and updates relevant company policies in accordance with the latest laws and regulations regularly.

To attract high-calibre workforce, the Group offers competitive and fair remuneration and benefits based on individuals' performance, professional qualifications and experiences. In order to motivate and reward existing management and employees, the Group conducts regular salary review to ensure that its staff are recognised by the Group with regard to their working efforts and contributions. Meanwhile, any termination of employment contract should be based on reasonable and lawful grounds. The Group strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or unreasonable dismissals.

The Group determines working hours and rest period for employees in line with employment laws and employment contracts with employees. In addition to statutory holidays such as the basic paid annual leave, employees may also entitle to maternity leave.

In terms of internal coaching and communication, the effective two-way communication between general staff and managerial staff is highly encouraged. Employees can maintain timely and smooth communication with their colleagues and the management through bulletin board postings, emails, trainings, internal meetings and social networks. The interactive communication system benefits the Group's decision-making process and results in a barrier-free employer employee relationship.

As an equal opportunity employer, the management of the Company is committed to create a fair, respectful and diverse working environment by promoting anti-discrimination and equal opportunity in all human resources and employment decisions. For instance, training and promotion opportunities, dismissals and retirement policies are determined irrespective of their gender, race, age, disability, family status, marital status, pregnancy status, sexual orientation, religion beliefs, nationality, social and ethnic origin or any other non-job related factors in all business units. The Group's equal opportunities policy enforces zero tolerance to any workplace discrimination, harassment or victimisation in accordance to relevant government legislations, ordinances and regulations such as Hong Kong's Disability Discrimination Ordinance and Sex Discrimination Ordinance. If there is any discrimination incidents, employees can report to Human Resources Department. Disciplinary actions would be taken against any employee if there is any non-compliance or breach of legislation related to the equal opportunities policies.

No violation of relevant employment laws and regulations was noted for the year ended 31 March 2018.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

To provide and maintain a good working conditions and a safe and healthy working environment, the Group's safety and health policies are in line with various laws and regulations stipulated by the local government, including the Hong Kong's Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

The Group has formulated monitoring and measuring equipment control procedures and other procedures documents in order to meet the specific safety management and comply with the related fire safety regulations, labour protection management regulations and the production site safety regulations.

In addition, the Group prohibits smoking and drinking liquor in workplace and carries out cleaning of the air-conditioning systems, disinfection treatment of carpets, emergency drill and safety inspection at regular intervals with an aim to maintain a clean, tidy, smoke-free, non-toxic, non-hazardous, healthy and safe working environment and to examine the health & safety measures' effectiveness.

No violation of relevant employment health and safety laws and regulations laws and was noted for the year ended 31 March 2018.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group endeavours to enhance the skills of each employee in various aspects by providing staff trainings. In order to assist employees in reaching the "keep moving" spirit, we support individual leaning and selfimprovement among of employees at all levels by providing tailor-made training sessions and education subsidies. The trainings are beneficial for our employees in adopting professional knowledge and improving efficiency in processes, which ultimately increase their job satisfaction and morale. In addition, we implemented a fair performance evaluation system to reward employees for their work contributions. The Group constantly provided on-job education and training for its employees to improve their knowledge and expertise.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and other laws and regulations to prohibits any child and forced labour. To combat against illegal employment, the human resources department of the Group responsible for recruitment requires the job applicants to provide valid identity documents prior to the confirmation of employment to ensure that the applicants are lawfully employable. The human resources department of the Group is responsible to monitor and ensure compliance of latest and relevant laws and regulations in relation to the prevention of child labour and forced labour.

No violation of relevant laws and regulations in relation to the prevention of child labour and forced labour was noted for the year ended 31 March 2018.

HARMONIOUS WORKPLACE

The Group believes employees hold strong positions in the success of our business. Therefore, the Group is determined to promote workplace diversity, protect employees' rights and encourage a friendly corporate culture. With the aim of motivating its employees to demonstrate its core values and to ultimately boost their sense of belongings, the Group strictly implements employment practices, internal equality and nondiscrimination principles.

To ensure the ability to attract and retain employees, the Group regularly reviews the remuneration and welfare policy such as an attractive bonus system and medical insurance.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group emphasise the importance of social responsibility awareness to its staff and encourage them to participate in social activities and charitable activities. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group encourages the staff to participate in the blood donations during office hours. The Group will put as much effort as possible on being a socially responsible corporation in the coming future.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group has established corporate governance policies to ensure that its business operates in accordance with its welldefined corporate governance principals. The Group conducts efficient communications with our suppliers, customers, business partners and shareholders to ensure they comply with our corporate governance framework. The Group provides competent support, data analysis and updated market insights to our customers, business partners and suppliers for enhance its operations. These measures not only enable the Group to reinforce its continuous relationships with its business partners, but also help all parties comply with the Group's code of business ethics, and importantly, to achieve a win-win outcome.

In order to comply with the changing trends and the Listing Rules, the Group constantly reviews its corporate governance practices in a timely, fair and transparent manner, so as to circulate up-to date information to its investors and to the public. The Group understands effective communication and accurate information disclosure not only give its credibility, but also facilitate the flow of constructive feedback and ideas that are beneficial to good approaches to investor relations and its future corporate development. Besides annual reports, interim reports and announcements, the Group facilitates its communications between stakeholders by explaining financial and operational information through meetings. Company visits also allow them to have a deeper understanding of our business.

To enhance information accessibility and efficiency, the Group has launched a website (www.huabangfinancial.com) so that the stakeholders can obtain the most recent information on us anywhere and anytime. The Group not only announces its financial results but also instantly upload a wide range of relevant information onto its website such as annual and interim reports, press releases, announcements and presentations for interim and annual results.



Ernst & Young 22/F, CITIC Tower 1 Tim Mei Avenue Central, Hong Kong 安永會計師事務所 香港中環添美道1號 中信大廈22樓

Tel電話: +852 2846 9888 Fax傳真: +852 2868 4432

ey.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABANG FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huabang Financial Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 51 to 138, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Business combination

Refer to note 34 to the financial statements.

During the year, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest of Huabang Securities Limited (previously known as Qian Hai Securities Limited) at a consideration satisfied by (i) cash of HK\$30,000,000 and (ii) 231,000,000 shares allotted and issued by Huabang Financial Holdings Limited. Huabang Securities Limited and its subsidiary ("Huabang Securities Group") principally engaged in the provision of brokerage, securities underwriting, margin financing services and placing services.

Management, with the assistance of an independent valuation expert, determined the fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. As a result, the Group recognised intangible assets comprising goodwill and customer relationship contracts.

We focused on this area because the accounting for business combination required the allocation of purchase price based on the fair value assessment of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which involved a number of judgements and assumptions.

We held discussions with management and the independent valuation expert to understand management's process in identifying the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date.

We assessed the capability, objectivity and competency of the independent valuation expert.

We involved our internal specialists in assisting us in reviewing the management's valuation methodologies and assessing the key assumptions and inputs used in measuring the fair value of the net identifiable assets. We evaluated the timing and the appropriateness of the accounting treatment and consideration of the acquisition based on the contractual agreements and in accordance with the applicable financial reporting standards.

We also assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in the financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment on goodwill from the acquisition of Huabang Financial Limited

Refer to note 7 to the financial statements.

The Group recognised a goodwill of HK\$4.64 million from the acquisition of Huabang Financial Limited on 10 February 2017. Goodwill is subject to impairment assessments annually and when there is an indication of impairment. In carrying out the impairment assessments of goodwill arising from Huabang Financial Limited, significant judgements were required to estimate the future cash flows of the business and to determine the assumptions, including the growth rate used in the cash flow projections and the discount rate applied to bring the future cash flows back to their present values. Based on the results of the impairment assessments conducted by the Group, it is believed that there was no impairment of goodwill. This conclusion was based on recoverable amounts, being the value in use, exceeding the respective carrying amount of the business.

Our procedures to evaluate the Group's assessments of goodwill included:

- Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies used;
- Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions based on our knowledge of the relevant business and industry;
- Performing sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions where we flexed the growth rates and discount rates as these are the key assumptions to which the valuation models are the most sensitive; and
- Testing the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of cash flow projections in the computation of recoverable amounts.

We also assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures on impairment test of goodwill in the financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment on accounts receivable

Refer to notes 3.1(b) and 12 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018, the total carrying amount of accounts receivable was HK\$174.59 million. No impairment allowances were provided during the year for accounts receivable.

The assessment of impairment on accounts receivable involved significant management judgements and estimates on the amount of losses already incurred at the reporting date. The Group's methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows require the review of individual outstanding amounts regularly based on individual circumstances or market conditions.

Impairment allowances on individually assessed accounts were determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the end of the reporting period on a case-by-case basis. The assessment normally encompasses the nature and value of the collateral held and the anticipated receipts.

We obtained an understanding of the Group's methodology and assumptions used for estimating the impairment allowance on accounts receivable.

We reviewed the aging analysis prepared by the Group on accounts receivable, considered the historical repayment pattern of the counterparties and checked subsequent settlement when assessing the impairment allowance made by the Group. We have also assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures on accounts receivable and the related credit risk.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL **STATEMENTS** (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL **STATEMENTS** (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Tso Pui Sze.

Ernst & Young Certified Public Accountants Hong Kong 21 June 2018

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2018

		As at 3	1 March
	Note	2018	2017
		HK\$'000	HK\$'000
ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	6	44,515	45,894
Intangible assets	7	60,377	6,162
Account receivables	12	1,000	_
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	12	42,305	30,196
Deferred tax assets	19	3,880	2,413
		152,077	84,665
Current assets			
Inventories	10	1,875	494
Loan receivables	11	50,000	70,400
Account receivables	12	173,593	88,477
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	12	3,775	14,440
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	13	1,808	_
Income tax recoverable		832	3,364
Bank balances held on behalf of clients	14	23,429	_
Cash and cash equivalents	15	200,254	152,189
		455,566	329,364
Total assets		607,643	414,029

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2018

		As at 31 March		
	Note	2018 HK\$'000	2017 HK\$'000	
EQUITY				
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company				
Share capital	16	3,408	3,214	
Other reserves	18	435,239	315,428	
Retained earnings		100,394	91,183	
Total equity		539,041	409,825	
LIABILITIES				
Non-current liabilities				
Deferred tax liabilities	19	500		
		500	_	
Current liabilities				
Account payables	20	24,706		
Other payables and accrued expenses	20	1,821	3,043	
Bank borrowings	21	36,124	5,0 4 5	
Current income tax liabilities		5,451	1,161	
		68,102	4,204	
Total liabilities		68,602	4,204	
Total equity and liabilities		607,643	414,029	
Net current assets		387,464	325,160	
Total assets less current labilities		539,541	409,825	

These consolidated financial statements on pages 51 to 138 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2018 and were signed on its behalf

George Lu	Lau Wing Sze
Director	Director

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2018

		Year end	ed 31 March
	Note	2018 HK\$'000	2017 HK\$'000
Revenue	5	683,410	836,542
Cost of sales	5	(627,443)	(802,321)
Gross profit		55,967	34,221
Selling expenses		(762)	(1,310)
General and administrative expenses		(41,317)	(30,457)
Other losses	25	(239)	(791)
Operating profit		13,649	1,663
Gain on disposal of equity interest in an investment			
accounted for using equity method	9	_	6,736
Share of loss of an investment accounted			
for using equity method	9	_	(842)
Finance costs	26	(477)	(1,245)
Profit before income tax		13,172	6,312
Income tax expense	27	(3,961)	(923)
Profit for the year attributable to equity			
holders of the Company		9,211	5,389
Earnings per share attributable to equity			
holders of the Company			
Basic	29	HK0.24 cent	HK0.15 cent
Diluted	29	HK0.24 cent	HK0.15 cent

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2018

	Year ended 31 M	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Comprehensive income		
Profit for the year	9,211	5,389
Other comprehensive income		
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss		
Currency translation differences	420	(230)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable		
to equity holders of the Company	9,631	5,159

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2018

Attributable to	equity h	olders of	the Co	nmnanv
ALLI IDULADIE LU	CUUILV III	DIUCIS UI	uic ci	JIIIDAIIV

					7100110000	ible to equity if	014015 01 1110 0	ompany			
						Other reserves					
Note	Note	Share capital	Share premium	Employee share-based compensation reserve	Merger reserve Note 18(a)	Capital reserve Note 18(b)	Statutory reserve Note 18(c)	Exchange reserve	Sub total	Retained earnings	Total
		HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2018											
Balance at 1 April 2017		3,214	243,749	14,260	50,374	2,480	1,042	3,523	315,428	91,183	409,825
Comprehensive income Profit for the year		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	9,211	9,211
Other comprehensive income Currency translation differences			-	-		_	_	420	420	-	420
Total comprehensive income		_	_		-	-	-	420	420	9,211	9,631
Transaction with owners											
Employee share option scheme – value of employee services	17	_	_	9,607					9,607	_	9,607
exercise of employee share options	17	2	1,236	(175)	_	_	_	_	1,061	_	1,063
forfeiture of employee share options Issue of shares for acquisition of	17	-	- 1,230	(810)	-	-	-	-	(810)	-	(810)
a subsidiary	34	192	109,533	-	-	-	-	-	109,533	-	109,725
Balance at 31 March 2018		3,408	354,518	22,882	50,374	2,480	1,042	3,943	435,239	100,394	539,041

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2018

					Attributa	able to equity h	olders of the C	ompany			
		Other reserves									
	Note S	Share capital	Share premium	Employee share-based compensation reserve	Merger reserve Note 18(a)	Capital reserve Note 18(b)	Statutory reserve Note 18(c)	Exchange reserve	Sub total	Retained earnings	Total
		HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2017											
Balance at 1 April 2016		2,939	99,814		50,374	2,480	1,042	3,753	157,463	105,077	265,479
Comprehensive income Profit for the year		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,389	5,389
Other comprehensive income Currency translation differences		-	-	-	_	-		(230)	(230)	` <u>-</u> -	(230)
Total comprehensive income		_	_		-	_	_	(230)	(230)	5,389	5,159
Transaction with owners											
Interim dividend declared and paid	28	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(19,283)	(19,283)
Issuance of shares by placing	16	275	151,525	-	-	-	-	-	151,525	-	151,800
Share issuance expenses Employee share option scheme		-	(7,590)	-	-	-	-	-	(7,590)	-	(7,590)
- value of employee services	17	_	-	14,260	-		_	-	14,260	-	14,260
Balance at 31 March 2017		3,214	243,749	14,260	50,374	2,480	1,042	3,523	315,428	91,183	409,825

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2018

		Year ende	
	Note	2018 HK\$'000	2017 HK\$'000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Cash generated from operations	32(a)	21,223	15,686
Income tax paid		(1,817)	(7,435)
Income tax refunded		3,188	_
Net cash flows from operating activities		22,594	8,251
Cash flows from investing activities			
Interest received		204	12
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	6	(84)	(216)
Purchase of intangible asset	7	_	(1,703)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	32(b)	63	792
Change in deposits, prepayments and other receivables	12	(11,904)	(30,000)
Partial proceeds received from disposal of an investment			
accounted for using equity method	32(c)	-	1,359
Acquisition of a business, net of cash acquired	34	3	7,104
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(11,718)	(22,652)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Interest paid		(438)	(1,245)
Drawdown of bank borrowings		109,276	122,124
Repayment of bank borrowings		(73,151)	(284,622)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares		_	151,800
Payment of listing and share issuance expenses		_	(7,590)
Interim dividend paid		_	(19,283)
Proceeds from exercise of share options		1,063	_
Bank facility costs paid		(40)	_
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities		36,710	(38,816)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		47,586	(53,217)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		152,189	205,655
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net		479	(249)
Lifect of foreign exchange rate changes, het		4/3	(249)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	15	200,254	152,189

1. **GENERAL INFORMATION**

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 23 February 2011 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is 29th Floor, Enterprise Square Two, 3 Sheung Yuet Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in (i) computer and peripheral products business, (ii) corporate finance advisory business, (iii) money lending business, and (iv) securities brokerage business (the "Business").

The directors considered Mr. George Lu and Ms. Shen Wei, spouse of Mr. George Lu, to be the ultimate controlling shareholders.

The Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Main Board").

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK\$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a) Amendments to standards and annual improvements which are relevant to the Group's operations and are mandatory for the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2017:

The following amendments to standards and annual improvements are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 April 2017:

- Amendments to HKAS 7, "Disclosure Initiative"
- Amendments to HKAS 12, "Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses"
- Amendments to HKFRS 12 included in Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle, "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification of the Scope of HKFRS 12"

The Group has adopted these standards other than as explained below regarding the impact of Amendments to HKAS 7, "Disclosure Initiative", the adoption of the remaining standards did not have a significant impact on the Group's results and financial position.

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in Note 32(d) to the financial statements.

There are no other new standards or amendments to standards that are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2017 that are expected to have a material impact on the Group.

(b) New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

The following new standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements are relevant to the Group, but are not yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 March 2018 and have not been early adopted:

	periods beginning on or after
HKFRS 9, "Financial Instruments"	1 January 2018
Amendments to HKFRS 9, "Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation"	1 January 2019
HKFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers"	1 January 2018
Amendments to HKFRS 15, "Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers"	1 January 2018
HKFRS 16, "Leases"	1 January 2019
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011), "Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture"	No mandatory effective date yet determined
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, "Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration"	1 January 2018
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments"	1 January 2019
Annual Improvements – 2014-2016 Cycle, "Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28"	1 January 2018
Annual Improvements – 2015-2017 Cycle, "Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23"	1 January 2019

Effective for annual

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

HKFRS 9 "Financial Instruments"

HKFRS 9 has three financial asset classification categories for investments in debt instruments: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income ("OCI") and fair value through profit or loss. Classification is driven by the entity's business model for managing the debt instruments and their contractual cash flow characteristics. Investments in equity instruments are always measured at fair value. However, management can make an irrevocable election to present changes in fair value in OCI, provided the instrument is not held for trading. If the equity instrument is held for trading, changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss. For financial liabilities, there are two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss. Where non-derivative financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss, the changes in the fair value due to changes in the liability's own credit risk are recognised in OCI, unless such changes in fair value would create an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case, all fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss. There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI to profit or loss. For financial liabilities held for trading (including derivative financial liabilities), all changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses – the expected credit losses "ECL" model, which constitutes a change from the incurred loss model in HKAS 39. HKFRS 9 contains a 'three stage' approach, which is based on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. Assets move through the three stages as credit quality changes and the stages dictate how an entity measures impairment losses and applies the effective interest rate method. The new rules mean that on initial recognition of a non-credit impaired financial asset carried at amortised cost a day-1 loss equal to the 12-month ECL is recognised in profit or loss. Where there is a significant increase in credit risk, impairment is measured using lifetime ECL rather than 12-month ECL. In the case of account receivables, this day-1 loss will be equal to their lifetime ECL.

HKFRS 9 applies to all hedging relationships, with the exception of portfolio fair value hedges of interest rate risk. The new guidance better aligns hedge accounting with the risk management activities of an entity and provides relief from the more "rule-based" approach of HKAS39.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in presentation. These are expected to change the nature and extent of the Group's disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of the new standard.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

HKFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" (Continued)

The Group has performed an assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9, and the expected impacts to the classification and measurement and the impairment requirements are summarised as follows:

Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the classification and measurement of its financial instruments. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

Based on the assessment by the Group, the adoption of the ECL model mentioned above in respect of financial assets will slightly decrease the net assets of the Group as at 1 April 2018 by less than 1% of the amount as at 31 March 2018.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, "Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation"

Amendments to HKFRS 9, issued in December 2017, allow financial assets with prepayment features that permit or require either the borrower or the lender to pay or receive reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. The amendments clarify that a financial asset passes the "solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding" criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for that early termination. The Group expects to adopt these amendments from 1 April 2019 and to apply the exemption from restating comparative information of prior periods. Any difference between the previous carrying amount and the adjusted carrying amount will be recognised in the opening balance of equity. The amendments do not apply to the Group as the Group does not have any debt instruments with prepayment features along with compensation for early termination. In addition, as clarified in the amendments to the basis for conclusions on HKFRS 9, the gain or loss arising on modification of a financial liability that does not result in derecognition (calculated by discounting the change in contractual cash flows at the original effective rate) is immediately recognised in profit or loss. As there is no specific relief on this clarification, this requirement shall be applied retrospectively. The Group's current accounting policy is consistent with this clarification and therefore the adoption of the amendments is not expected to have any impact on the Group.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

HKFRS 15. "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" and Amendments to HKFRS 15. "Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers"

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining when to recognise revenue and how much revenue to recognise through a 5-step approach:

- Identify the contract(s) with customer; (1)
- Identify separate performance obligations in a contract;
- (3) Determine the transaction price;
- (4) Allocate transaction price to performance obligations; and
- Recognise revenue when performance obligation is satisfied.

The core principle is that a company should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. It moves away from a revenue recognition model based on an 'earnings processes to an 'asset-liability' approach based on transfer of control.

In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and licenses of intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard.

HKFRS 15 provides specific guidance on capitalisation of contract cost and license arrangements. It also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity's contracts with customers.

The Group has performed a high level assessment on the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 15 and expects that the standard will not have significant impact, when applied, on the financial statements of the Group. The Group will continuously assess the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 15 based on further detailed analyses or additional supportable information being made available to the Group in the future.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

HKFRS 16 "Leases"

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees - leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in Note 33(a) to the financial statements, at 31 March 2018, the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately HK\$4,669,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of adoption.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011), "Sale of Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture"

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, "Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration"

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of the prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments"

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as "uncertain tax positions"). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New standards, amendments to standards, interpretations and annual improvements that have been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

Amendments under Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

Improvements to HKFRSs contains numerous amendments to HKFRSs which the HKICPA considers not urgent but necessary. It comprises amendments that result in accounting changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purpose as well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety of individual HKFRSs. These improvements do not have a material impact on the Group's financial statements.

2.2 SUBSIDIARY

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses or transactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transaction that are recognised in asset are also eliminated. Accounting policies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Business combinations (a)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations, except for those carried out under common control which are accounted for using the principles of merger accounting. Under the acquisition method, the consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.

2.2 SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

2.3 ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

2.4 SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the "functional currency"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK\$"), which is the Company's presentation and functional currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Group companies (c)

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
- income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and
- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation and partial disposal on disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION (Continued)

(c) **Group companies** (Continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated currency translation differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group's ownership interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control) the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land classified as finance lease and depreciation on property, plant and equipment are calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land classified as finance lease Over the lease terms

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the remaining lease terms,

whichever is a shorter period

Buildings 50 years or over the lease terms,

whichever is a shorter period

Machineries 3 to 10 years

Office equipment 5 years Furniture and fixtures 5 years Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.

2.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

(b) Money lending license

The Group's money lending license has a useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the license over its estimated useful life of not more than 5 years.

(c) Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life of the customer relationship.

2.8 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS

2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group's loans and receivables comprise loan receivables, account receivables, financial assets included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables, bank balances held on behalf of clients and cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive net changes in fair value presented as other gains and negative net changes in fair value presented as other losses in the income statement. These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets.

2.9.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts are reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

2.9.4 Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a "loss event") and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

- Significant financial difficulty of the borrower;
- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; (b)
- The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
- It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; (e)
- Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
 - adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio;
 - national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit or loss. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the company may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.10 INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials and assembly cost. It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.11 LOAN RECEIVABLES, ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables are loans granted to customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection of loan receivables is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Account receivables are amounts due from 1) customers for merchandises sold or services performed or 2) clients and clearing house for securities brokerage services in the ordinary course of business. If collection of amount receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Interest receivables are interests derived from loans granted to customers in the ordinary course of business.

Loan receivables, account receivables and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks and bank deposits with original maturities of less than three months.

2.13 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 ACCOUNT PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Account payables are obligations to 1) pay for goods that have been acquired from suppliers and 2) pay to clients and clearing house for securities brokerage services in the ordinary course of business. Account payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Account payables and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.15 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost, any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated income statements over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.16 BORROWING COSTS

All borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated income statement in the year in which they are incurred.

2.17 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statements, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

2.17 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the statement of financial position and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates and joint arrangements. Only when there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from the associates' or joint arrangements' undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.18 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods or sale of services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to customer, the customer has accepted the products and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits received in advance from customers for goods that have not been delivered are recognised as "Receipt in advance" in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(b) Interest income

Interest income from money lending business and securities brokerage business is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset.

Service income (c)

Sponsor income and advisory, placing and underwriting fees are recorded as income in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements and when the relevant significant acts have been completed.

(d) Commission income

Commission income from securities brokerage business is recognised on the transaction dates when the relevant contract notes are exchanged.

2.20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Pension obligations

The Group participates in general defined contribution pension schemes. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People's Republic of China ("PRC"), the PRC based employees of the subsidiary participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit, housing fund, medical insurance and unemployment fund plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which the subsidiary and the employees are required to make monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of the employees' salaries. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised in profit or loss as employee benefit expenses when they are incurred.

(b) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements (c)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the date of the statement of financial position. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.21 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity's share price);
- excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and
- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a specific period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the period between service commencement period and grant date. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

After vesting, when the share options are forfeited before expiry or expire, the amount previously recognised in "employee share-based compensation reserve" will be transferred to "retained earnings".

(b) Share-based payment transactions among group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

2.22 LEASES

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

2.24 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements and the Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

2.25 RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

- the party is a person or a close member of that person's family and that person
 - (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
 - has significant influence over the Group; or (ii)
 - (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

- the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (b)
 - (i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
 - one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
 - (iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
 - (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

2.25 RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

- the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (Continued)
 - the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;
 - (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);
 - (vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and
 - (viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

2.26 BANK BALANCES HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENT

A subsidiary of the Company maintains trust and segregated accounts with authorised financial institutions to hold clients' deposits arising from normal business transactions. The subsidiary has classified the clients' monies as client trust bank balances under the current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position as the subsidiary is allowed to retain some or all of the interest income on the clients' monies and recognised corresponding account payables to the respective customers in the current liabilities clients on grounds that it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients' monies. Under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571), the subsidiary is not allowed to use the clients' monies to settle its own obligation.

2.27 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.27 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the Level 2 fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly
- based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the Level 3 fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, price risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group has not used any derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk exposures.

(a) Market risk

Foreign exchange risk (i)

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China and most of their transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollar ("HK\$"), Renminbi ("RMB") and United States dollar ("US\$"). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily through expenses transactions that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the group companies. The Group manages its exposures to foreign currency transactions by monitoring the level of foreign currency receipts and payments. The Group ensures that the net exposure to foreign exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level from time to time. The Group has not used any forward exchange contract to hedge against foreign exchange risk as management considers its exposure as not significant.

At 31 March 2018, if Hong Kong dollar had weakened/strengthened by 5% (2017: 5%) against RMB with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been HK\$205 lower/higher (2017: HK\$1,000 lower/higher), primarily due to exchange loss/gain (2017: loss/gain) arising from revaluation of net RMB denominated monetary liabilities (2017: net RMB denominated monetary liabilities).

As the HK\$ is pegged to the US\$, the Group does not expect any significant movements in the US\$/HK\$ exchange rate.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

- Market risk (Continued)
 - (ii) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk from equity instruments held by the Group which is classified in the statement of finance position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Price risk is the risk of changes in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuations, whether such a change in price is caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments traded in the markets. The Group mitigates its price risk by performing detailed due diligence analysis of investments and dedicated professionals are assigned to oversee and monitor the performance of investments

At 31 March 2018, if the equity price of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss had been 5% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group's profit after tax for the year ended 31 March 2018 would have increased/decreased approximately by HK\$90,000.

(iii) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises mainly from bank borrowings. Bank borrowings carried at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash at banks held at variable rates.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swap contracts or other financial instruments to hedge against its interest rate risk exposure. Management monitors interest rate fluctuations to ensure that exposure to interest rate risk is within an acceptable level.

Based on the sensitivity analysis performed by management, if interest rates had been 100 (2017: 100) basis points higher/lower on the Group's bank borrowings with all other variable held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year would have been HK\$361,000 (2017: nil) lower/higher.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed at group level. Credit risk primarily arises from account, loan and interest receivables, other receivables, deposits and cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of financial position which represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because cash at banks are placed with reputable financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC which management believes are of sound credit quality and without major credit risk.

The Group has concentrations of credit risk from account receivables from its customers of the trading business. The Group's five largest customers of the trading business in aggregate accounted for all (2017: all) of the Group's total gross account receivables of the trading business at 31 March 2018. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties. The Group maintains frequent communications with these customers to ensure relevant transactions are running effectively and smoothly and balances are reconciled. Settlements from these customers are closely monitored on an ongoing basis by management of the Group to ensure any overdue debts are identified. Follow-up action is taken to recover the overdue debts.

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and existing customers before standard payment terms and conditions are offered. If there is no independent rating, the Group assesses the credit quality of the customers based on their financial positions, past experience and other factors.

For the Group's money lending business which was only started in the last year, the Group manages and analyses the credit risk by making reference to the financial strength, purpose of borrowing, and repayment ability of each of the borrower before incepting business with them. The Group also reviews the latest financial capabilities of the borrowers in determining whether there is credit risk on the loan receivables at any point in time.

The Group considers the loan and respective interest receivables as loss if the repayment of principal and/or interest has been overdue for a pro-longed period and the collection of principal and interest in full is considered improbable after exhausting all collection efforts such as initiation of legal proceedings.

As at 31 March 2018, none of the loan and interest receivables (2017: nil) were past due.

Interest income from the top five borrowers constituted approximately 1.0% (2017: 0.5%) of the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018. They accounted for approximately 51% (2017: 53%) of the gross loan receivables balances as at 31 March 2018.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentrations of credit risk from account receivables from its customers of the securities business. The Group's five largest customers (excluding clearing house) of the securities business in aggregate accounted for 92% (2017: nil) of the Group's total gross account receivables (excluding clearing house) of the securities business at 31 March 2018. The Group maintains frequent communications with these customers and reviews the recoverable amount for each individual account receivable of the securities business at each reporting date to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment is made for irrecoverable amounts.

For other receivables and deposits, the directors consider the Group's credit risk to be minimal taking into account the financial position of the counterparties.

(c) Liquidity risk

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and ensure the availability of funding through an adequate amount of available financing, including short-term bank borrowings.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the date of the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the lender could demand repayment. Balances due within twelve months other than bank borrowings equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

		Less than	Between 1	Over	
	On demand HK\$'000	1 year HK\$'000	and 2 years HK\$'000	2 years HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 31 March 2018					
Account and other payables					
(excluding non-financial liabilities)	24,543	1,984	_	_	26,527
Bank borrowings	42,051	, -	-	-	42,051
	66,594	1,984	_	_	68,578
As at 31 March 2017					
Account and other payables					
(excluding non-financial liabilities)	_	2,030	_	_	2,030
	-	2,030	-	_	2,030

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital (the sum of total equity and net debt), as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Net debt is calculated as total bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group's strategy was to maintain a solid capital base to support the operations and development of its business in the long term. The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Danis harman in ma (Nicho 24)	26.424	
Bank borrowings (Note 21)	36,124	_
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)	(200,254)	(152,189)
Net debt	(164,130)	(152,189)
Total equity	539,041	409,825
Total capital	374,911	257,636
Gearing ratio	N/A	N/A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments measured at fair value:

	Fair value measurements using					
	Quoted prices in active markets	Significant observable inputs	Significant unobservable inputs			
	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)	Total		
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000		
31 March 2018 Financial assets at fair value						
through profit or loss	1,808	_	_	1,808		

The Group did not have any financial instruments measured at fair value as at 31 March 2017.

During the year, there were no transfer of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2017: nil)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's other financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, bank balances held on behalf of clients, loan receivables, account receivables, financial assets included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables, account payables, bank borrowings and financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued expenses approximate their respective fair values.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

Business combination (a)

The Group accounts for its business combinations by applying the acquisition method. The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised and measured on the basis of their fair values at the date of acquisition. To determine fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the Group must make estimates and use valuation techniques when a market value is not readily available.

(b) Estimated provision for doubtful debts

The Group makes provision for doubtful debts based on assessment of the recoverability of loan receivables, account receivables and other receivables. Provisions are applied to loan receivables, account receivables and other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of doubtful debts requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(c) **Estimated impairment of inventories**

The carrying value of inventory is reviewed by management at each reporting date to ensure that it is not recorded at a value higher than net realisable value. Management tests whether inventory suffered any impairment based on estimates of the net realisable value of the inventory.

Management estimates the net realisable value based primarily on current market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature and make allowance if the net realisable value is lower than the cost. These estimates could change significantly as a result of changes in customer preferences and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Where the actual net realisable values are less than expected, an allowance may arise. Management reassess the estimations at the date of the statement of financial position.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(d) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives, and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The estimates are based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of similar nature and functions. Management will increase the depreciation and amortisation charges where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable and amortisable lives and therefore affect the depreciation and amortisation charges in future periods.

(e) Current and deferred income tax

The Group is principally subject to income taxes both in Hong Kong and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.

Deferred income tax assets relating to temporary differences are recognised when management expects it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise against the temporary differences. Where the expectations are different from the original estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets in the period in which such estimates have been changed.

Impairment of non-current assets

Non-current assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell or net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the consolidated income statement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(g) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.7(a). The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations required the use of estimates (Note 7).

(h) Share-based compensation

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan under which the Group receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company. The plan comprise share option schemes. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted as at the date of grant: (i) including any market performance conditions; (ii) excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets); and (iii) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive directors of the Company ("CODM"). The CODM reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segment based on these reports.

The CODM considers that the Group has four operating and reporting segments which are (i) computer and peripheral products business, (ii) corporate finance advisory business, (iii) money lending business, and (iv) securities brokerage business.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on adjusted operating profit/(loss). Expenses, where appropriate, are allocated to operating segments with reference to revenue contributions of the respective segments. Gain on disposal of equity interest in an investment accounted for using equity method, share of loss of an investment accounted for using equity method and unallocated expenses are not included in the result for each operating segment that is reviewed by the CODM.

Segment assets consist primarily of intangible assets, inventories, account receivables, loan receivables, interest receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, bank balances held on behalf of clients and other assets. They exclude property, plant and equipment, investment accounted for using equity method, deferred income tax assets, cash and cash equivalents, income tax recoverable and other unallocated assets, which are managed centrally. Segment liabilities consist primarily of account payables and bank borrowings. They exclude deferred tax liabilities, current income tax and other unallocated liabilities, which are managed centrally.

5 **REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION** (Continued)

For the	vear	ended	31	March	2018
---------	------	-------	----	-------	------

		TOT the	year ended 51 March	2010	
	Computer			Securities	
	and peripheral	•	Money lending	brokerage	
	products business	advisory business	business	business	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Revenue from external customers	648,258	22,395	10,694	2,063	683,410
Cost of sales from external customers	(627,193)	(250)	_	_	(627,443)
	21,065	22,145	10,694	2,063	55,967
Selling expenses	(644)	_	_	_	(644)
General and administrative expenses	(8,105)	(5,678)	(421)	(1,223)	(15,427)
Other gains/(losses), net	517	3	_	(578)	(58)
Finance costs	(477)				(477)
Adjusted operating profit	12,356	16,470	10,273	262	39,361
Unallocated expenses					(26,189)
Profit before income tax					13,172
Income tax expense					(3,961)
Profit for the year					9,211

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5

For the year ended 31 March 2017

		For the year ended	31 March 2017	
	Computer and peripheral products business HK\$'000	Corporate finance advisory business HK\$'000	Money lending business HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Revenue from external customers	829,016	1,400	6,126	836,542
Cost of sales from external customers	(802,321)	-	-	(802,321)
	26,695	1,400	6,126	34,221
Selling expenses	(1,195)	-	_	(1,195)
General and administrative expenses	(8,630)	(279)	(245)	(9,154)
Other losses	(902)	-	-	(902)
Finance costs	(1,024)		-	(1,024)
Adjusted operating profit	14,944	1,121	5,881	21,946
Unallocated expenses				(21,307)
Operating profit				639
Finance costs				(221)
Gain on disposal of equity interest in an investment accounted for using equity				,
method				6,736
Share of loss of an investment accounted				(0.42)
for using equity method				(842)
Profit before income tax				6,312
Income tax expense				(923)
Profit for the year				5,389

Interest revenue of HK\$11,587,000 (2017: HK\$6,126,000) was included in revenue from external customer, contributed by money lending business segment of HK\$10,694,000 (2017: HK\$6,126,000) and securities brokerage business segment of HK\$893,000 (2017: nil), respectively.

5 **REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION** (Continued)

The following table presents segment assets and segment liabilities.

As at 31 March 2018

	Computer and peripheral products business HK\$'000	Corporate finance advisory business HK\$'000	Money lending business HK\$'000	Securities brokerage business HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Segment assets	241,108	42,051	69,094	165,477	517,730
Segment liabilities	37,583	47	-	24,968	62,598
Capital expenditure	43	41	-	,	84

As at 31 March 2017

		Corporate finance advisory business HK\$'000	Money lending business HK\$'000	Securities brokerage business HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Segment assets	219,645	25,527	76,613	_	321,785
Segment liabilities	2,873	94	6		2,973
Capital expenditure	216	-	-	-	216

5 **REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION** (Continued)

The reconciliations of segment assets to total assets and segment liabilities to total liabilities are provided as follows:

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
		224 705
Segment assets	517,730	321,785
Cash and cash equivalents	476	1,050
Property, plant and equipment	43,027	44,666
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	41,698	40,751
Deferred tax assets	3,880	2,413
Income tax recoverable	832	3,364
Total assets	607,643	414,029
Segment liabilities	62,598	2,973
Deferred tax liabilities	500	_
Current income tax liabilities	5,451	1,161
Other unallocated liabilities	53	70
Total liabilities	68,602	4,204

Majority of the Group's revenue were derived from Hong Kong.

Revenue from the top five customers for all reportable segments is as follows:

2018	2017
	2017
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
646,852	794,982
683,410	836,542
95%	95%
2	2
	646,852 683,410 95%

For the year ended 31 March 2018, there were two customers that individually accounted for approximately 80% and 11% (2017: two customers - 77% and 11%) of the Group's revenue respectively. These customers belong to the Group's trading business.

5 **REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION** (Continued)

The Group's total non-current assets (excluding financial instruments, deferred tax assets and investment accounted for using equity method) are located in the following regions:

	As at 31	As at 31 March		
	2018	2017		
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000		
Hong Kong	145,904	51,903		
The PRC	128	153		
	146,032	52,056		

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	Leasehold properties HK\$'000	Leasehold improvements HK\$'000	Machineries HK\$'000	Office equipment HK\$'000	Furniture and fixtures HK\$'000	Motor vehicles HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
31 March 2018							
Opening net book amount Additions	43,882 -	315 _	72 -	74 74	187 10	1,364	45,894 84
Disposals Depreciation (Note 22) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)	(1,404) -	(86) –	(15) - 7	(27) 79	(52) 251	350	(8) (2,150) 680
Exchange realignment				_		8	15
Closing net book amount	42,478	229	64	200	396	1,148	44,515
At 31 March 2018							
Cost	52,306	2,055	393	455	609	3,891	59,709
Accumulated depreciation	(9,828)	(1,826)	(329)	(255)	(213)		(15,194)
Net book amount	42,478	229	64	200	396	1,148	44,515
31 March 2017							
Opening net book amount	45,286	498	1,180	88	57	1,950	49,059
Additions Disposals	-	(34)	(922)	23 (3)	193 (19)	_	216 (978)
Depreciation (Note 22)	(1,404)	(151)	(115)	(34)	(45)		(2,328)
Exchange realignment	-	2	(71)	-	1	(7)	(75)
Closing net book amount	43,882	315	72	74	187	1,364	45,894
At 31 March 2017							
Cost	52,306	2,055	393	353	368	5,347	60,822
Accumulated depreciation	(8,424)	(1,740)	(321)	(279)	(181)		(14,928)
Net book amount	43,882	315	72	74	187	1,364	45,894

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Group's interests in leasehold properties are analysed as follows:

	As at 31 March	
	2018 201	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
In Hong Kong, held on:		
Leases of between 10 and 50 years	42,478	43,882

Depreciation of the Group's property, plant and equipment has been charged to the consolidated income statement as follows:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cost of sales	_	51
General and administrative expenses	2,150	2,277
	2,150	2,328

At 31 March 2018, the Group's leasehold property with a net carrying amount of approximately HK\$42,478,000 (2017: 43,882,000) was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 21).

7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		Money lending license	Customer relationship contract	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
31 March 2018				
Opening net book amount	4,641	1,476	45	6,162
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)	52,013	, –	2,700	54,713
Amortisation (Note 22)		(341)	(157)	(498)
Closing net book amount	56,654	1,135	2,588	60,377
At 31 March 2018				
Cost	56,654	1,703	2,756	61,113
Accumulated amortisation and impairment		(568)	(168)	(736)
Net book amount	56,654	1,135	2,588	60,377
31 March 2017	1			
Opening net book amount	_	_	_	
Additions	_	1,703	_	1,703
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)	4,641	-	56	4,697
Amortisation (Note 22)		(227)	(11)	(238)
Closing net book amount	4,641	1,476	45	6,162
At 31 March 2017				
Cost	4,641	1,703	56	6,400
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	-,041	(227)	(11)	(238)
Net book amount	4,641	1,476	45	6,162

7 **INTANGIBLE ASSETS** (Continued)

In July 2016, the Group acquired a money lending license in Hong Kong through acquisition of a Hong Kong incorporated company. The money lending license has a legal life of one year but is renewable at insignificant cost. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group could renew the money lending license and maintain the license continuously.

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations have a finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected useful life of the customer relationship. The useful life of customer relationship recognised during acquisition of Huabang Securities Limited ("Huabang Securities") was three years. The useful life of customer relationship recognised during acquisition of Huabang Corporate Finance Limited ("Huabang Corporate Finance") was ten months.

Amortisation charge of HK\$498,000 (2017: HK\$238,000) was included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the following cash-generating units ("CGUs") for impairment testing:

- Corporate finance cash-generating unit; and
- Securities brokerage cash-generating unit.

Corporate finance cash-generating unit

The Group recognised goodwill of HK\$4,641,000 during the year ended 31 March 2017 as a result of acquisition of the equity interest in Huabang Financial Limited ("Huabang Financial"). Huabang Financial is an investment holding company. Its wholly-owned subsidiary, Huabang Corporate Finance, is principally engaged in the corporate finance advisory business in Hong Kong (the "Corporate Finance CGU").

7 **INTANGIBLE ASSETS** (Continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

Securities brokerage cash-generating unit

The Group recognised goodwill of HK\$52,013,000 during the year ended 31 March 2018 as a result of acquisition of the equity interest in Huabang Securities. Huabang Securities is principally engaged in the securities brokerage business in Hong Kong (the "Securities Brokerage CGU").

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the one-year period are projected for the next four-year period using the estimated growth in revenue and gross profit margin. Thereafter, the cash flows are extrapolated using the terminal growth rate not exceeding the long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGUs operate.

For the significant amount of goodwill arisen from the CGUs, the key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

	As at 31 I	Vlarch
	2018	2017
Corporate finance CGU		
Revenue growth rate	3.0%	3.0%
Terminal growth rate	3.0%	3.0%
Discount rate (pre-tax)	20.6%	20.9%
	As at 31 I	March
	2018	2017
Securities brokerage CGU		
Revenue growth rate	1.7%-30.8%	N/A
nevenue growth rate	112 /0 2010 /0	
Terminal growth rate	3.0%	N/A

Management determined the budgeted revenue based on their expectations of market developments with the growth rates being estimated based on the industry forecasts and management's expectations. The terminal growth rate is based on the expected inflation rate. The discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the relevant operating segments. As at 31 March 2018, the estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceeded their carrying values and the directors are of the opinion that there was no impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: nil).

SUBSIDIARIES 8

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries:

	Place and date of		Particulars of	Intere	st held
Name	incorporation	Principal activities	issued registered/ paid up capital	2018	2017
Directly owned:					
Golden Profit Global Trading Limited	British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), 16 November 2010	Investment holding	US\$10,000	100%	100%
Indirectly owned:					
Top Harvest Capital Limited	BVI, 4 January 2011	Property holding	US\$100	100%	100%
Goldenmars Technology (Hong Kong) Limited	Hong Kong, 26 April 2005	Assembling and trading of electronic components and products	HK\$43,000,000	100%	100%
Huabang Finance Limited	Hong Kong, 27 August 2015	Money lending business	HK\$10,000	100%	100%
Huabang Financial Investments Limited	BVI, 26 May 2017	Property holding	US\$100	100%	-
Huabang Corporate Finance Limited	Hong Kong, 27 August 2015	Corporate finance advisory business	HK\$15,000,000	100%	100%
Huabang Securities Limited*	Hong Kong, 4 July 1996	Securities brokerage business	HK\$97,500,000	100%	-

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

The date of the end of the reporting period of the financial statements of Huabang Securities, which was acquired on 15 February 2018 by the Group, is 31 December.

9 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD

	As at 31 March	
	2018 (Note a)	2017
		(Note b)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At beginning of the year	_	17,055
Share of loss for the period	_	(842)
Disposal of equity interest in an investment accounted		
for using equity method	_	(15,662)
Exchange realignment	_	(551)
At end of the year	_	_

Note:

- On 11 May 2017, the Group has acquired 50% of equity interest in Huabang Qianhai Limited ("Huabang Qianhai") at cash consideration of US\$50 (approximately HK\$390). Huabang Qianhai (incorporated in BVI) and its wholly owned subsidiary, Huabang Qianhai Property Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong), are both inactive companies. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has recorded a share of loss of investment accounted for using equity method of HK\$390 in the consolidated income statement.
- Investment accounted for using equity method as at 31 March 2016 represented a 12.42% equity interest in Bozhou (b) Botong Information Technology Company Limited ("Bozhou Botong"), a limited company incorporated in the PRC, which is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of smartphone and computer peripheral products. The registered capital of Bozhou Botong as of 31 March 2016 was RMB155,000,000.

On 15 June 2016, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the entire equity interest in Bozhou Botong at cash consideration of RMB19,250,000 (approximately HK\$22,398,000). The disposal was completed on 29 September 2016 and the Company recognised a gain on disposal of approximately HK\$6,736,000 from such disposal, being the difference between the consideration of disposal and the carrying value of the investment as at the date of disposal.

Particulars of the Group's joint venture are as follows:

			Pe	ercentage of		
Name	Particulars of issued registered/paid up capital	Place of incorporation	Ownership interest	Voting power	Profit sharing	Principal activities
Huabang Qianhai Limited	US\$100	BVI	50%	50%	50%	Inactive

10 INVENTORIES

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Finished goods	2,266	885
Less: provision for impairment of inventories	(391)	(391)
Inventories, net	1,875	494

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales amounted to HK\$627,193,000 (2017: HK\$801,930,000), which did not include any impairment of inventories (2017: Reversal of impairment of inventories of HK\$1,386,000).

Movements in provision for impairment of inventories are as follows:

	As at 31	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Beginning of the year	391	4,153	
Write-off of inventory	_	(2,376)	
Reversal of impairment of inventories	_	(1,386)	
End of the year	391	391	

The reversal of allowance for the year ended 31 March 2017 was resulted from the subsequent sale of the relevant inventories.

11 LOAN RECEIVABLES

The Group's loan receivables, which arise from its money lending business in Hong Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured, bear fixed interest rate, and repayable within one year from the dates of inception of the loan agreements. No provision for impairment of loan receivables has been made during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

11 LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the end of the reporting periods, based on the maturity date, net of provision, is as follows:

	As at 3	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Current – within one year	50,000	70,400	

12 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	As at 31 March	
	2018 HK\$'000	2017 HK\$'000
Non-current		
Account receivables (Note h)	1,000	_
Prepayments for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note a)	_	30,000
Non-current deposits and prepayments for acquisition		
of a property (Note b)	41,140	_
Other non-current deposits	960	196
Other assets (Note c)	205	_
	43,305	30,196
Current		
Account receivables (Note h)	111,662	88,660
Provision for impairment of account receivables (Note i)	111,002	(183)
Cash client receivables (Note d)	61,910	(105)
Due from clearing house (Note e)	21	_
- Due from cleaning house (Note e)	21	
	173,593	88,477
Prepayments	582	589
Due from related parties (Note 35(b))	25	505
Other receivables (Note f)	227	10,395
Interest receivables (Note g)	2,941	3,456
	3,775	14,440
Total account receivables, deposits,		
prepayments and other receivables	220,673	133,113

12 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the maximum exposures of the Group to credit risk were the carrying value of account receivables mentioned above.

Account receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
HK\$	112,803	34,191
RMB	92	10,371
US\$	107,778	88,551
	220,673	133,113

The directors consider the balances of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are neither past due nor impaired.

Other than those disclosed in note (d) below, the Group does not hold any collateral as security for account receivables, deposits and other receivables.

12 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Note:

- On 7 March 2017, Goldenmars Technology Investments Limited ("Goldenmars Technology Investments"), an indirectly (a) wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which Goldenmars Technology Investments agreed to acquire 100% equity interest in Huabang Securities, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, at a consideration of HK\$180,150,000, to be satisfied by cash of HK\$30,000,000 and the allotment and issue of 231,000,000 shares of the Company. As at 31 March 2017, a refundable prepayment of HK\$30,000,000 was paid to the vendor. Huabang Securities is a licensed corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and is principally engaged in securities brokerage business. The transaction is completed on 15 February 2018 upon fulfillment of the completion conditions, including obtaining approval from the regulators.
- On 11 January 2018, Huabang Financial Investments Limited ("Huabang Financial Investments"), an indirectly whollyowned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a formal sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which Huabang Financial Investments has agreed to purchase a property located in Hong Kong, at a consideration of HK\$219,765,000, to be satisfied by cash. At 31 March 2018, non-refundable deposits and other prepayments totalling HK\$41,140,000 was paid for the acquisition of the property.

The transaction was completed on 18 April 2018 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the sales and purchase agreement. Further details are set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

(c) An analysis of other assets is as follows:

As at 31 March	
2018	2017
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
50	_
50	-
50	_
50	_
5	_
205	_
	2018 HK\$'000 50 50 50 50 50

These assets are held by Huabang Securities, which was acquired by the Group on 15 February 2018.

12 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(d) At 31 March 2018, the Group held securities with an aggregate fair value of HK\$281,175,000 as collaterals over the receivables. Management has assessed the market value of the pledged securities of each individual client at the end of each reporting period. The collateral held can be sold at the Group's discretion to settle any outstanding amount owned by the cash client.

The cash client receivables are interest-bearing and have no fixed repayment terms.

(e) The settlement terms of receivables arising from the ordinary course of business of dealing in securities from clearing house are within two days after trade date. Clearing house receivables are neither past due nor impaired and represent unsettled trades transacted on the last two days prior to the end of each financial year and solely related to the HKSCC for which there is limited risk of default.

In presenting the amounts due from HKSCC, the Group has offset the gross amount of the account receivables from and the gross amount of the account payable to HKSCC. Further details are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.

No aging analysis is disclosed for account receivables from clearing house as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the aging analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of the business.

These assets are held by Huabang Securities, which was acquired by the Group on 15 February 2018.

(f) Included in other receivables at 31 March 2017 was the proceeds receivable from the disposal of the Group's investment accounted for using equity method amounting to HK\$10,288,000 (Note 9(b)). Such balance was unsecured, non-interest-bearing and fully settled on 12 June 2017.

No aging analysis is disclosed for other receivables as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the aging analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of the business.

12 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

- The Group's interest receivables, which arise from the money lending business, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and repayable at terms as agreed with the borrowers.
- (h) The Group grants credit period ranging from 1 day to 60 days (2017: from 1 day to 60 days) to the customers of trading business and corporate finance business. The aging analysis of relevant account receivables (mostly denominated in US\$) at the date of statement of financial position based on invoice date is as follows:

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
1 – 30 days*	78,819	62,870
31 – 60 days	33,697	25,601
61 – 90 days	_	
Over 90 days	146	189
	112,662	88,660
Less: provision for impairment		(183)
	112,662	88,477

^{*} Including unbilled revenue of HK\$4,739,000 (2017: nil)

Included in the above account receivables are receivables of HK\$193,000 (2017: HK\$95,000) that were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of account receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Neither past due nor impaired	112,469	88,382
1 – 30 days past due	47	89
31 – 60 days past due	_	_
61 – 90 days past due	76	_
Over 90 days past due	70	6
	112,662	88,477

12 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(h) (Continued)

As at 31 March 2017, gross account receivables of approximately HK\$183,000 were fully impaired. The impaired receivables were related to balances due from a customer which the directors believe that the recoverability was remote. The aging analysis of the impaired receivables is as follows:

	As at	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Over 90 days	-	183	

Movements in the provision for impairment of account receivables are as follows: (i)

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At beginning of the year	183	183
Write-off of account receivables	(183)	_
At end of the year	-	183

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss:		
Listed equity securities – Hong Kong	1,808	-
	1,808	_

These financial assets are held by Huabang Securities, which was acquired by the Group on 15 February 2018.

14 BANK BALANCES HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with licensed banks to hold clients' monies in accordance with the relevant legislation. The Group has classified the clients' monies as bank balances held on behalf of clients in current assets of the statement of financial position and recognised the corresponding account payables to respective clients in current liabilities of the statement of financial position. The Group is allowed to retain interest on the clients' monies. The Group is not allowed to use the clients' monies to settle its own obligations.

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

	As at 3	1 March
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cash on hand		
RMB	_	20
HK\$	49	15
	49	35
Cash at banks		
HK\$	131,629	79,425
RMB	30	225
New Taiwan Dollar ("TWD")	26	25
US\$	68,520	72,479
	200,205	152,154
	200,254	152,189

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The effective interest rate on cash at bank was 0.1% (2017: 0.01%) per annum.

The conversion of bank and cash balances denominated in RMB into foreign currencies in the PRC and the remittance of these deposits or cash out of the PRC are subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. As at 31 March 2018, the Group's cash at banks of approximately HK\$14,000 (2017: HK\$225,000) was deposited at banks in the PRC.

16 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised shares:

As at 31 March 2018, the total authorised number of ordinary shares is 96,000 million shares (2017: 96,000 million shares) with a par value of HK\$0.0008333 per share (2017: HK\$0.0008333 per share). On 6 May 2016, the Company effected a subdivision of shares whereby each ordinary share was subdivided into twelve ordinary shares of HK\$0.0008333 each.

Issued shares:

	Number of shares	Share capital
	′000	HK'000
As at 31 March 2016	293,880	2,939
Share subdivision	3,232,680	_
Issuance of shares by placing (Note a)	330,000	275
As at 31 March 2017	3,856,560	3,214
As at 31 March 2017	3,856,560	3,214
Share options exercised	1,932	2
Issuance of consideration shares for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note b)	231,000	192
As at 31 March 2018	4,089,492	3,408
As at 31 March 2018	4,089,492	3,408

Note:

- On 24 October 2016, the Company issued 330,000,000 ordinary shares of HK\$0.0008333 each at price of HK\$0.46 each through placement for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK\$151,800,000.
- Goldenmars Technology Investments entered into a sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which Goldenmars Technology Investments agreed to acquire 100% equity interest in Huabang Securities, at a consideration of HK\$180,150,000, to be satisfied by cash of HK\$30,000,000 and the allotment and issue of 231,000,000 shares of the Company.

17 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 21 August 2013 (the "Date of Adoption"), the Company conditionally approved a share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") under which options will be granted to eligible persons to subscribe for shares of the Company at subscription price which should not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a trading day ("Offer Date"); (ii) the average closing price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's shares, provided that for the purpose of calculating the subscription price, where the Company has been listed for less than five trading days, the issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business day falling within the period before listing.

On 21 December 2016, the Group announced the granting of a total of 288,000,000 share options to selected employees and directors under the Share Option Scheme and 203,000,000 share options ("ESO1") have been approved and granted to the employees and some directors on the same date. The remaining 85,000,000 ("ESO2") share options have been subsequently approved and granted to the remaining director in an extraordinary general meeting held on 24 February 2017. The exercise price of the granted options is HK\$0.55 per share.

For the ESO1 granted on 21 December 2016, details of the validity period and vesting period of share options are as follows:

- One-third of the share options is exercisable from the 21 December 2016 to 20 December 2019 ("Tranche 1.1"). These share options are unconditionally vested as at 21 December 2016 or date of grants, whichever is later;
- One-third of the share options is exercisable from 21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019 ("Tranche 1.2"). These share options are vested as at 21 December 2017; and
- One-third of the share options is exercisable from 21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019 ("Tranche 1.3"). These share options will be vested as at 21 December 2018.

For the ESO2 granted on 24 February 2017, details of the validity period and vesting period of share options are as follows:

- One-third of the share options is exercisable from the 24 February 2017 to 20 December 2019 ("Tranche 2.1"). These share options are unconditionally vested as at 21 December 2016 or date of grants, whichever is later;
- One-third of the share options is exercisable from 21 December 2017 to 20 December 2019 ("Tranche 2.2"). These share options are vested as at 21 December 2017; and
- One-third of the share options is exercisable from 21 December 2018 to 20 December 2019 ("Tranche 2.3"). These share options will be vested as at 21 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the numbers of share options exercised and forfeited are 1,932,000 and 56,666,667 respectively. All share options exercised are in respect of Tranche 1.1 and all share options forfeited are in respect of Tranche 2.2 and Tranche 2.3.

17 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Movements in the number of outstanding share options and their related average exercise prices are as follows:

	2018		20	17
	Average		Average	
	exercise price	Number of	exercise price in	Number of
	in HK\$ per	share options	HK\$ per share	share options
	share option	(thousands)	option	(thousands)
1 April 2017	0.55	288,000	_	_
Granted during the year	_	_	0.55	288,000
Forfeited during the year	0.55	(56,667)	_	_
Exercised during the year	0.55	(1,932)	_	
31 March 2018		229,401		288,000

Share options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

	Exercise price in HK\$ per share	Number of share options (thousands)	
Expiry date	option	2018	2017
20 December 2019	0.55	229,401	288,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options during the year was HK\$1.23 per share (2017: No share options were exercised).

As at 31 March 2018, 163,666,665 share options were vested.

The fair value of each option granted during last year was determined using Black Scholes model at HK\$0.091, HK\$0.109, HK\$0.126, HK\$0.146, HK\$0.163 and HK\$0.182 for Tranche 1.1, Tranche 1.2, Tranche 1.3, Tranche 2.1, Tranche 2.2 and Tranche 2.3, respectively.

For those share options granted to selected employees and directors on 21 December 2016, the significant inputs into the model were closing share price of HK\$0.49 at the grant date, exercise price shown above, volatility of 46.25%, vesting periods of one, two and three years respectively for each tranche of the share options shown above, dividend yield of 1% per annum and risk-free interest rates of 0.97%, 1.14% and 1.30% per annum for Tranche 1.1, Tranche 1.2 and Tranche 1.3 respectively. The volatility measured at the grant date is referenced to the historical volatility of the Company.

17 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

For those share options granted to the director on 24 February 2017, the significant inputs into the model were closing share price of HK\$0.59 at the grant date, exercise price shown above, volatility of 45.39%, vesting periods of one, two and three years respectively for each tranche of the share options shown above, dividend yield of 1% per annum and risk-free interest rates of 0.81%, 0.91% and 1.01% for Tranche 2.1, Tranche 2.2 and Tranche 2.3 respectively. The volatility measured at the grant date is referenced to the historical volatility of the Company.

Share-based payments of HK\$118,000 (2017: HK\$115,000) and HK\$8,679,000 (2017: HK\$14,145,000) were included in selling expenses and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement respectively.

18 OTHER RESERVES

(a) Merger reserve

The Group's merger reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the Company and the aggregate amount of share capital of other companies comprising the Group, after elimination of intra-group investments.

(b) Capital reserve

The Group's capital reserve represents deemed contribution by the Controlling Shareholders as a shareholder acquired the remaining non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and contributed to the Group at no cost prior to 1 April 2011.

(c) Statutory reserve

The Company's subsidiary in the PRC is required to transfer 10% of its profit after income tax calculated in accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations to the statutory reserve until the balance reaches 50% of its respective registered capital, where further transfers will be at their directors' discretion. The statutory reserve can be used to offset prior years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to equity holders of the PRC subsidiary in proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that the remaining balance of the statutory reserve after such issue is no less than 25% of share capital of the PRC subsidiary.

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Movements of deferred tax assets:

			Decelera	ted tax		
	Share-based	d payment	deprec	iation	Tot	al
	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At beginning of the year Credited to consolidated	2,353	-	60	28	2,413	28
income statement	1,423	2,353	44	32	1,467	2,385
At end of the year	3,776	2,353	104	60	3,880	2,413

Movements of deferred tax liabilities:

	Fair value adjustments Accelerated tax arising from depreciation subsidiaries		Tot	al		
	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At beginning of the year Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)	- 35	-	- 487	-	- 522	-
Credited to consolidated income statement	(2)	_	(20)	_	(22)	
At end of the year	33	_	467	_	500	_

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK\$5,218,000 (2017: HK\$348,000) in Hong Kong, which have no expiry dates, and HK\$17,240,000 (2017: HK\$21,397,000) in the PRC which will expire during financial year 2019 to year 2023. No deferred tax assets have been recognised for these tax losses as the directors consider that it is not probable that the temporary difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

	As at 31 March		
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Deferred tax assets	3,880	2,413	
Deferred tax liabilities	(500)	_	
Deferred tax assets, net	3,380	2,413	

The movement on the deferred income tax is as follows:

	As at 31 March		
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
At beginning of the year	2,413	28	
Addition arising from acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)	(522)	_	
Credited to consolidated income statement (Note 27)	1,489	2,385	
At end of the year	3,380	2,413	

20 ACCOUNT PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cash client payables (Note a)	24,543	_
Due to clearing house (Note b)	163	_
Total account payables	24,706	-
Other payables and accrued expenses:		
Accrued expenses	1,762	2,009
Receipt in advance	_	1,013
Other payables	59	21
Total other payables and accrued expenses	1,821	3,043
Total account payables, other payables and accrued expenses	26,527	3,043

20 ACCOUNT PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

Note:

- The settlement terms of payables arising from securities business are normally two to three days after trade date or specific terms agreed. The majority of the cash client payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand, except where certain balances represent trades pending settlement or cash received from clients for their trading activities under the normal course of business.
- In presenting the amounts due to HKSCC, the Group has offset the gross amount of the account receivables from and the gross amount of the account payables to HKSCC. Further details are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.

Account payables, other payables and accrued expenses of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

	As at 3	As at 31 March	
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
HK\$	26,240	1,720	
RMB	287	310	
	26,527	2,030	

Other than those disclosed in note (a) above, account payables and other payables are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and repayable on demand.

21 BANK BORROWINGS

The maturities of the bank borrowings as at 31 March 2018 in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates (excluding any demand clauses) are as follows:

	As at 31 March		
	2018		
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
and t			
Within one year	2,166	_	
Between one and two years	2,172	_	
Between two and five years	6,804	_	
Over five years	24,982		
	36,124	_	

21 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group's bank borrowings, which contain a clause giving the lender an unconditional right to demand repayment at any time, have been classified as current liabilities irrespective of the probability that the lender will invoke the clause without cause.

The Group's bank borrowing as at 31 March 2018 is denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and bears interest at 1.35% above Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate per annum and is repayable by 180 monthly installments commencing on 13 October 2017. The Group's bank borrowing is secured by mortgage over the Group's leasehold properties situated in Hong Kong, which had an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of HK\$42,478,000 (Note 6).

22 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling expenses, and general and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

	Year ended 31 March		
	2018	2017	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
	627.402	002.246	
Cost of inventories sold	627,193	803,316	
Reversal of impairment of inventories (Note 10)	_	(1,386)	
Auditor's remuneration	1,208	1,350	
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6)	2,150	2,328	
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 7)	498	238	
Legal and professional fees	11,352	1,350	
Employee benefit expenses (Note 23)	12,485	8,790	
Equity-settled share option expenses (Note 17)	8,797	14,260	
Operating lease rentals of premises	1,051	388	
Utilities expenses	85	123	
Building management fees	648	567	
Service fees for broker supplied systems	158	_	
Others	3,897	2,764	
Total	660 533	024.000	
Total	669,522	834,088	

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Short term employee benefits	12,169	8,441
Post-employment benefits (Note)	368	341
Others	(52)	8
	12,485	8,790
Equity-settled share option expenses (Note 17)	8,797	14,260
	21,282	23,050

Note: These mainly represent:

- the Group's contributions to the Mandatory Provident Funds (MPF) for employees working in Hong Kong. Under the MPF scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees' earnings with a maximum of HK\$1,500 for employee's monthly contribution as defined under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Funds legislations.
- the Group's contributions to defined contribution pension plans in the PRC for employees working in the PRC. These pension plans are organised by the respective municipal and provincial government of the PRC, and include elderly insurance, medical insurance and unemployment insurance at rates up to 20%, 7.5% and 2% respectively of the employees' basic salaries depending on the applicable local regulations.

The Group has no other material obligations for the payment of pensions and other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than those disclosed above.

24 SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were the highest in the Group are as follows:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Directors (Note 37)	8,086	11,547
Employees	5,871	4,548
	13,957	16,095

24 SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The five individuals where emoluments were the highest in the Group include two (2017: three) directors whose emoluments were disclosed in Note 37. The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2017: two) non-director individuals during the year are as follows:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Short term employee benefits	3,704	1,330
Post-employment benefits	56	20
Equity-settled share option expenses	2,111	3,198
	5,871	4,548

Remuneration of the three (2017: two) highest paid non-director individuals fell within the following bands:

	Number of individuals	
	2018	2017
Emolument Bands		
HK\$500,001 to HK\$1,000,000	1	
HK\$1,000,001 to HK\$1,500,000	_	
HK\$1,500,001 to HK\$2,000,000	1	1
HK\$2,000,001 to HK\$2,500,000	_	-
HK\$2,500,001 to HK\$3,000,000	_	1
HK\$3,000,001 to HK\$3,500,000	1	-

(b) Senior management's emoluments

The emoluments of the two (2017: three) senior management fell within the following bands:

	Number of individuals	
	2018	2017
Emolument Bands		
Nil to HK\$500,000	1	1
HK\$500,001 to HK\$1,000,000	_	_
HK\$1,000,001 to HK\$1,500,000	_	_
HK\$1,500,001 to HK\$2,000,000	_	1
HK\$2,000,001 to HK\$2,500,000	_	_
HK\$2,500,001 to HK\$3,000,000	_	1
HK\$3,000,001 to HK\$3,500,000	1	_

25 OTHER LOSSES

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Finance income	204	12
Exchange gain/(loss)	73	(645)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant	75	(043)
and equipment (Note 32(a)/(b))	55	(186)
Realised gain on disposal of equity investments		
at fair value through profit or loss	21	_
Unrealised loss on the change in fair value of equity		
investments at fair value through profit or loss	(612)	_
Others	20	28
Total	(239)	(791)

26 FINANCE COSTS

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Finance costs		
– Interest expense on bank borrowings	477	1,245

27 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Current income tax		
– Hong Kong profits tax	5,508	3,248
 PRC corporate income tax 	_	_
(Over)/under-provision in prior year	(58)	60
Deferred income tax (Note 19)	(1,489)	(2,385)
	3,961	923

The Group is subject to both Hong Kong profits tax and PRC corporate income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at a rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. The subsidiary in the PRC is subjected to PRC corporate income tax at a rate of 25% (2017: 25%).

27 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Profit before income tax	13,172	6,312
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the	4.002	1 500
respective jurisdictions	4,002	1,589
Tax effects of:		
 Expenses not deductible 	300	51
 Income not subject to tax 	(114)	(1,711)
 Temporary difference not recognised 	(7)	_
– Tax losses not recognised	86	934
 Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 	(158)	_
– (Over)/under-provision in prior year	(58)	60
– Tax refund	(90)	
Tax charge	3,961	923
Effective tax rate	30.1%	14.6%

28 DIVIDENDS

No final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 was proposed.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company declared and paid an interim dividend of HK\$0.005 per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK\$19,283,000.

29 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (HK\$'000)	9,211	5,389
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue	3,885,939,047	3,670,313,425
Basic earnings per share	HK0.24 cent	HK0.15 cent

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company has one (2017: one) category of dilutive potential ordinary share: share options (2017: share options). For the share options, a calculation was performed to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average market price of the Company's shares for the period) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of share options.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is as follows:

	Year ended 31 March 2018
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (HK\$'000)	9,211
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:	3,885,939,047
Share options	24,421,064
	3,910,360,111
Diluted earnings per share	HK0.24 cent

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 was the same as the basic earnings per share as the conversion of potential ordinary shares in relation to the outstanding share options would have an anti-dilutive effect to the basic earnings per share.

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 March 2018

Financial assets

	Financial assets at fair value			
	Loan and receivables	through profit or loss	Total	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Loan receivables	E0 000		E0 000	
	50,000	_	50,000	
Account receivables Financial assets included in deposits,	174,593	_	174,593	
prepayments and other receivables	4,358	_	4,358	
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	_	1,808	1,808	
Bank balances held on behalf of clients	23,429	_	23,429	
Cash and cash equivalents	200,254	_	200,254	
	452,634	1,808	454,442	

Financial liabilities

	At amortised cost HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Account payables Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued expenses Bank borrowings	24,706 1,821 36,124	24,706 1,821 36,124
	62,651	62,651

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued)

As at 31 March 2017

Financial assets

	Loan and	
	receivables	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Loan receivables	70,400	70,400
Account receivables	88,477	88,477
Financial assets included in deposits,		
prepayments and other receivables	14,047	14,047
Cash and cash equivalents	152,189	152,189
	325,113	325,113

Financial liabilities

	At		
	amortised cost HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000	
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued expenses	2,030	2,030	
	2,030	2,030	

31 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the Continuous Net Settlement ("CNS") money obligations receivable and payable with HKSCC; and the Group intends to settle on a net basis as account receivables from or account payables to HKSCC. For the net amount of CNS money obligations receivable or payable with HKSCC and Guarantee Fund placed with HKSCC, they do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the financial statements and the Group does not intend to settle the balances on a net basis.

			Related amounts not offset in the statement of financial position		
	Gross amount of recognised financial assets HK\$'000	Gross amount of recognised financial liabilities offset in the statement of financial position HK\$'000	Net amount of financial assets presented in the statement of financial position HK\$'000	Cash collateral received HK\$'000	Net amount HK\$'000
As at 31 March 2018 Account receivable from clearing house	2,692	(2,671)	21	-	21
Account payable to clearing house	2,834	(2,671)	163	-	163

There was no account receivable/payable from/to clearing house as at 31 March 2017.

32 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from operations:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Profit before income tax	13,172	6,312
Adjustments for:		
Depreciation (Note 22)	2,150	2,328
Amortisation (Note 22)	498	238
Reversal of impairment of inventories (Note 22)	_	(1,386)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
(Note 25)	(55)	186
Exchange (gains)/losses (Note 25)	(73)	645
Finance income (Note 25)	(204)	(12)
Finance costs (Note 26)	477	1,245
Gain on disposal of equity interest in an investment accounted		
for using equity method (Note 9)	_	(6,736)
Share of loss of an investment accounted for using equity		
method (Note 9)	_	842
Share options expenses (Note 17)	8,797	14,260
Unrealised loss on change in fair value of equity investments		
at fair value through profit or loss (Note 25)	612	_
Change in working capital		
– Inventories	(1,381)	17,524
– Loan receivables	20,400	(70,400)
– Account receivables	(32,208)	99,287
 Bank balances held on behalf of clients 	5,335	_
 Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 	11,221	(3,423)
– Account payables	(4,794)	(42,881)
– Other payables and accrued expenses	(2,724)	(2,343)
Cash generated from operations	21,223	15,686

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Net book amount of property, plant and equipment disposed		
(Note 6)	8	978
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
(Note 25)	55	(186)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	63	792

32 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of equity interest in an investment accounted for using equity method comprise:

	Year ended	
	31 March 2017	
	HK\$'000	
Consideration (Note 9 (b))	22,398	
	•	
Proceeds receivable (Note 12 (f))	(10,288)	
Offset against balance due to the acquirer	(10,751)	
Proceeds from disposal of equity interest in an investment accounted for using		
equity method	1,359	

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

	Bank borrowings
	HK\$'000
A+ 1 April 2017	
At 1 April 2017	76
Changes from financing cash flows	100 276
Drawdown of bank borrowings	109,276
Repayments of bank borrowings	(73,151)
Interest paid	(438)
Bank facility costs paid	(40)
Other changes	
Interest expenses	477
At 31 March 2018	36,124

33 COMMITMENTS

(a) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases an office property under an operating lease arrangement, with the lease negotiated for terms of two years. The future aggregate minimum lease payments for the office property under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Not later than 1 year	2,790	_
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years	1,879	
	4,669	-

(b) Capital commitments

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note (a) above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

	Year ended 31 March	
	2018	2017 HK\$'000
	HK\$'000	
Contracted, but not provided for:		
Leasehold properties	198,589	_
Leasehold improvements	189	
	198,778	_

34 BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition in 2018

On 15 February 2018, Goldenmars Technology Investments Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Huabang Securities from an independent third party pursuant to a sales and purchase agreement dated 7 March 2017 at a consideration of HK\$180,150,000, to be satisfied by cash of HK\$30,000,000 and the allotment and issue of 231,000,000 shares of the Company. Huabang Securities is a licensed corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is principally engaged in securities brokerage business in Hong Kong. Its wholly-owned subsidiary, Sen Mei Logistics Limited, is an inactive company which holds a motor vehicle for own use.

In accordance with HKFRS 3 (Revised), "Business Combinations", the Group is required to recognise the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that satisfy the recognition criteria at their fair value at the acquisition date. Accordingly, the Group has undertaken a purchase price allocation allocating the purchase consideration to the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the acquisition date. Significant accounting estimates have been involved when performing the allocation.

34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Huabang Securities and Sen Mei Logistics Limited (collectively referred to "Huabang Securities Group") as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

	HK\$'000
Purchase consideration	
- Cash paid	30,000
– Consideration shares issued at market price on 15 February 2018	109,725
	139,725
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value	
Property, plant and equipment	680
Customer relationship contract	2,700
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	2,420
Account receivables	53,908
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	760
Bank balances held on behalf of clients	28,764
Cash and cash equivalents	30,003
Account payables	(29,499)
Other payables and accrued expenses	(1,502)
Deferred tax liabilities	(522)
Total identifiable net assets	87,712
Goodwill	52,013

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK\$360,000 for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

Included in the goodwill of HK\$52,013,000 recognised above is an assembled workforce, which is not recognised separately. Because the Group would not have sufficient control over the expected future economic benefits arising from the assembled workforce, it does not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset under HKAS 38, "Intangible Assets". None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The fair values of the account receivables and other receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to HK\$53,908,000 and HK\$494,000, respectively. The gross contractual amounts of account receivables and other receivables were HK\$61,154,000 and HK\$494,000, respectively, of which account receivables of HK\$7,246,000 are expected to be uncollectible.

Revenue included in the consolidated income statement since acquisition date contributed by Huabang Securities was HK\$2,063,000. This acquired business contributed operating profit of HK\$262,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 from the acquisition date.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue from continuing operations of the Group and the loss of the Group for the year would have been HK\$695,283,000 and HK\$600,000, respectively.

34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Acquisition in 2017

On 10 February 2017, Goldenmars Internet Media Company Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Huabang Financial from an independent third party pursuant to a sales and purchase agreement dated 28 July 2016 at a cash consideration of HK\$24,000,000. Huabang Financial is a company incorporated in Hong Kong which directly holds the entire issued share capital of Huabang Corporate Finance, a company incorporated in Hong Kong which is principally engaged in corporate finance advisory business in Hong Kong.

The following table summarises the consideration, the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date and goodwill arising from the acquisition:

	HK\$'000
Purchase consideration	
- Cash paid	13,249
– Offset with receivable from the then owner of Huabang Financial	
(formerly known as Qianhai Financial Limited)	10,751
	24.000
	24,000
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value Cash and cash equivalents	20,353
Customer relationship contract	56
Trade and other receivables	176
Receipt in advance and other payables	(1,226)
Total identifiable net assets	19,359

Goodwill is attributable to the corporate finance advisory business segment and the synergies expected to arise after the Group's acquisition of the business operation.

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Major related party that had transactions with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2017 was as follows:

Name of the related party	Relationship
Huabang Securities Limited	Common director with a subsidiary of the Company (For the period prior to the completion of acquisition of Huabang Securities)

(a) Transactions with related parties

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no material transactions were undertaken by the Group with related parties.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group paid placing commission expense of HK\$7,590,000 to Huabang Securities.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

The Group had outstanding balances due from Huabang Qianhai, a joint venture of the Group, and Huabang Qianhai Property Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huabang Qianhai, totalling HK\$25,000 (2017: nil) as at the end of the reporting period. These balances are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group (c)

	Year ended 31 March			
	2018	2017		
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000		
Short term employee benefits	4,606	4,102		
Post-employment benefits	102	100		
Equity-settled share option expenses	8,599	13,281		
	13,307	17,483		

Further details of directors' and the chief executive's emoluments are included in Note 37 to the financial statements.

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

		As at 3°	1 March
		2018	2017
		HK\$'000	HK\$'000
ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Interests in subsidiaries		452,453	342,728
interests in substitution		432,433	J-Z,720
Current assets			
Amount due from subsidiaries		14,538	14,260
Deposits, prepayments and other receivable		337	267
		14,875	14,527
Total assets		467,328	357,255
10tal assets		407,320	331,233
EQUITY			
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders			
of the Company			
Share capital		3,408	3,214
Other reserves	Note a	463,920	354,041
			257.255
Total equity		467,328	357,255
Total equity and liabilities		467,328	357,255
Net current assets		14,875	14,527
			25-25-
Total assets less current liabilities		467,328	357,255

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2018 and was signed on its behalf

George Lu	Lau Wing Sze
_	
Director	Director

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company:

	Share premium HK\$'000	Contributed surplus HK\$'000 Note	Employee share-based compensation reserve HK\$'000	Retained earnings/ (accumulated losses) HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2018					
Balance at 1 April 2017	243,749	95,114	14,260	918	354,041
Comprehensive income Loss for the year	-	_		(9,512)	(9,512)
Total comprehensive income	_	_	-	(9,512)	(9,512)
Transaction with owners Employee share option scheme					
 value of employee services (Note 17) exercise of employee share options (Note 17) forfeiture of employee share options (Note 17) 	- 1,236 -	- - -	9,607 (175) (810)	- - -	9,607 1,061 (810)
Issue of shares for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)	109,533			_	109,533
Balance at 31 March 2018	354,518	95,114	22,882	(8,594)	463,920
For the year ended 31 March 2017					
Balance at 1 April 2016	99,814	95,114		(4,574)	190,354
Comprehensive income Profit for the year	_	_		24,775	24,775
Total comprehensive income	-	-		24,775	24,775
Transaction with owners Interim dividend declared and paid (Note 28) Issuance of shares by placement (Note 16) Share issuance expenses Employee share option scheme	- 151,525 (7,590)	- - -	1	(19,283) - -	(19,283) 151,525 (7,590)
- value of employee services (Note 17)	-		14,260	_	14,260
Balance at 31 March 2017	243,749	95,114	14,260	918	354,041

Note: Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the excess of the nominal value of the Company shares issued and the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation.

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors' emoluments

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out below:

	Fee HK\$'000	Salary HK\$'000	Discretionary bonus HK\$'000	Housing allowance HK\$'000	Estimated monetary value of other benefit HK\$'000	Employer's contribution to a retirement benefit scheme HK\$'000	Remunerations paid or receivable in respect of accepting office as director HK\$'000	Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director's other services in connection with the management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary undertaking HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Year ended 31 March 2018									
Name of directors									
Executive directors									
Mr. George Lu	100	626	-	-	-	18	-	-	744
Ms. Lau Wing Sze (Note (i))	100	852	-	-	2,016	18	-	-	2,986
Mr. Lau Wan Po (Note (ii))	100	266	-	-	4,733	1	-	-	5,100
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (Note (iii))	289	-	-	-	71	3	-	_	363
	589	1,744	_	-	6,820	40	-	-	9,193

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out below: (Continued)

	Fee HK\$'000	Salary HK\$'000	Discretionary bonus HK\$'000	Housing allowance HK\$'000	Estimated monetary value of other benefit HK\$'000	Employer's contribution to a retirement benefit scheme HK\$'000	receivable in respect of accepting	Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director's other services in connection with the management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary undertaking HK\$\(^{2}\)000	Total HK\$'000
Year ended 31 March 2018 Name of directors									
Independent non-executive directors									
Mr. Loo Hong Shing, Vincent	170	-	-	-	71	9	-	-	250
Mr. Mu Binrui (Note (viii))	184	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	184
Mr. Lam Allan Loc (Note (v))	170	-	-	-	-	9	-	-	179
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (Note (vi))	170	-	_	_	71	9	-	_	250
	694	-	-	-	142	27	-	-	863

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out below:

							Remunerations	Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director's other services in connection with the	
	Fee HK\$'000	Salary HK\$'000	Discretionary bonus HK\$'000	Housing allowance HK\$'000	Estimated monetary value of other benefit HK\$'000	Employer's contribution to a retirement benefit scheme HK\$'000	paid or receivable in respect of accepting office as director HK\$'000	management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary undertaking HK\$'000	Total HK \$ '000
Year ended 31 March 2017 Name of directors									
Executive directors									
Mr. George Lu	100	620	-	-	4,932	18	-	-	5,670
Ms. Lau Wing Sze (Note (i))	100	815	-	-	1,957	18	-	-	2,890
Mr. Lau Wan Po (Note (ii))	-	-	-	-	1,149	-	-	-	1,149
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (Note (iii))	58	-	-	-	45	1	-	-	104
Ms. Shen Wei (Note (iv))	100	350	-	-	-	2	-	-	452
	358	1,785	-	-	8,083	39	-	-	10,265
Non-executive directors Mr. Lau Wan Po (Note (ii))		-	-	-	1,838	-	-	-	1,838
	-	-	-		1,838	-	-		1,838

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out below: (Continued)

	Fee HK\$'000	Salary HK\$'000	Discretionary bonus HK\$'000	Housing allowance HK\$'000	Estimated monetary value of other benefit HK\$'000	Employer's contribution to a retirement benefit scheme HK\$'000	Remunerations paid or receivable in respect of accepting office as director HK\$'000	Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director's other services in connection with the management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary undertaking HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Year ended 31 March 2017 Name of directors									
Independent non-executive directors									
Mr. Loo Hong Shing, Vincent	161	-	-	-	69	8	-	-	238
Mr. Mu Binrui (Note (viii))	29	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	29
Mr. Lam Allan Loc (Note (v))	29	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	30
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (Note (vi))	89	-	-	-	69	5	-	-	163
Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny (Note (iii))	135	-	-	-	24	7	-	-	166
Mr. Wan Tak Shing (Note (vii))	25	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	26
Mr. Yeung Wai Fai Andrew (Note (ix))	48	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	50
	516	-	-	-	162	24	_	- 12 ° -	702

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

Note:

- Lau Wing Sze was also the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Company as at 31 March 2016. Lau Wing Sze (i) has resigned as the CEO but remains an executive director and George Lu has been appointed as the CEO with effect from 2 June 2016
- Lau Wan Po was appointed as a non-executive director and vice chairman of the Company on 26 January 2017. With effect from 7 March 2017, Lau Wan Po has been re-designated from a non-executive director to an executive director of the Company.
- With effect from 26 January 2017, Pang Chung Fai Benny has been re-designated from an independent nonexecutive director to an executive director and has been appointed as vice chairman of the Company.
- Shen Wei has resigned as the executive director of the Company with effect from 26 January 2017.
- Lam Allan Loc has been appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company with effect from 26 (v) January 2017.
- Shin Yick Fabian has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 30 September 2016.
- Wan Tak Shing has resigned as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 2 June 2016
- (viii) Mu Binrui has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 26 January 2017. He has resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 28 March 2018.
- Yeung wai Fai Andrew has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 2 June 2016. He has resigned an independent non-executive director with effect from 30 September

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no director waived any emoluments (2017: same).

(b) Directors' retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: same).

Directors' termination benefits (c)

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: same).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors' services

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no consideration was paid by the Company to third parties for making available directors' services (2017: same).

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors (2017: same).

(f) Directors' material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company has a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31 March 2018 or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: same).

38 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group completed a major transaction of acquisition of a property on 18 April 2018. Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 20 December 2017, 9 January 2018, 27 February 2018 and 18 April 2018, and the circular of the Company dated 15 March 2018.